### THE TOWN OF BRANFORD, CONNECTICUT

### **AND**

UPSEU/COPS, LOCAL #459

**Tentative Agreement** 

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE4
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION4
ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY-DUES DEDUCTION5
ARTICLE 3 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE5
ARTICLE 4 - DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES & PRIVILEGES7
ARTICLE 5 - COURT TIME9
ARTICLE 6 - SICK LEAVE10
ARTICLE 7 – FUNERAL LEAVE12
ARTICLE 8 - UNIFORMS AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE
ARTICLE 9 - HOLIDAYS15
ARTICLE 10 -OVERTIME15
ARTICLE 11 -VACATIONS
ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY21
ARTICLE 13 - HOURS OF WORK/BIDDING22
ARTICLE 14 - REQUEST FOR GRANTING OF TIME OFF
ARTICLE 15 - EXTRA OR SPECIAL POLICE DUTY
ARTICLE 16 - RATES OF PAY
ARTICLE 17 - HEALTH AND MEDICAL PLAN
ARTICLE 18 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD
ARTICLE 19 - GENERAL PROVISIONS
ARTICLE 20 - LONGEVITY 40

ARTICLE 21 - PENSION	41
ARTICLE 22 - PROMOTIONS	41
ARTICLE 23 - EDUCATION INCENTIVE	42
ARTICLE 24 - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS	43
ARTICLE 25 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	44
SIGNATURE BLOCK	45
EXHIBIT A - PATROL ASSIGNMENTS	
EXHIBIT B - RATES OF PAY	
EXHIBIT C - INSURANCE PLANS	
EXHIBIT D - LIGHT DUTY MOA	
EXHIBIT E - MATERNITY LEAVE MOA	

#### **Tentative Agreement**

Modify Table of Contents based on the final agreement reached by the Town and the Union.

# AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN OF BRANFORD, CONNECTICUT AND INITED BURLIC SERVICE EMBLOYEES UNION

#### UNITED PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION THE BRANFORD POLICE UNIT #459

#### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement entered into by the Town of Branford, hereinafter referred to as the "Town", and the United Public Service Employees Union/COPS Branford Police Unit #459, hereinafter referred to as the "Union or UPSEU/COPS", has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the Town and the Union; the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences; and the establishment of rates of pay, hours of work, working privileges or benefits or any other matters that come within the general meaning of the terms working conditions or conditions of employment as provided for by the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut.

Whenever the masculine or feminine gender is used in this Agreement, it shall be construed to refer equally to either sex.

## ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION OF UNION AND RECOGNITION OF MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

**SECTION 1.** The Town recognizes the Union as sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all full-time permanent investigatory -and uniformed members of the Police Department with authority to exercise police powers up to and including the rank of captain.

SECTION 2. Except as otherwise modified or restricted by an express provision of this Agreement, the Town reserves and retains solely and exclusively, whether exercised or not, all the lawful and customary rights, powers, and prerogatives of management. Such rights shall include but shall not be limited to establishing standards of productivity and performance of its employees; determining the objectives of the Town and the methods and means necessary to fulfill those objectives, including the creation or the discontinuation of services, departments or programs in whole or in part, the determination of the content of job classifications; the determination of the qualifications of employees; the appointment, promotion, assignment, direction, scheduling of hours of work and transfer of personnel; the suspension, demotion, discharge or any other appropriate disciplinary action against its employees; the relief from duty of its employees because of lack of work; the establishment, modification or discontinuation of reasonable work rules; and the taking of all necessary actions to carry out its objectives in emergencies.

### ARTICLE 2 UNION SECURITY - DUES DEDUCTION

#### **Tentative Agreement**

SECTION 1. As a condition of employment, all present employees who are members of the Union upon the effective date of this contract shall remain members of the Union in good standing. All employees who are not members of the Union shall within thirty one (31) days become members and remain members for the duration of this Agreement. All employees who are hired hereafter shall as a condition of employment become members and remain members in good standing of the Union after the thirty first (31st) day of their employment. The Town agrees to deduct from the pay of the employees who, in writing, authorized deductions from their wages such membership dues as may be fixed by the Union. the current monthly dues and remit them each month to UPSEU during the duration of this Agreement, or any extension thereof. Such deductions shall continue for the duration of the Agreement, except that Any employee may withdraw such authorization by contacting their business representative at UPSEU. The Union will then notify the Director of Human Resources as soon as possible after an employee withdraws membership in the Union.

**SECTION 2.** Deductions will be made on a weekly basis as specified by the Town and approved by the Union. The Town shall forward the deducted dues to UPSEU following, the last payroll of the month.

**SECTION 3.** The Union will inform the Town of the name and title of the Union official responsible for all matters relating to dues.

<u>SECTION 4.</u> Whenever a member's dues are not deducted by reason of such member not receiving any pay during the pay week that deductions are made, or by reason of an extended absence from the Department during which time such member is not paid, it shall be the responsibility of the Town when such member is returned to the payroll of the Town, to reactivate the deduction of his current dues.

**SECTION 5.** The Union agrees that it will save the Town harmless from any damages incurred by reason of carrying out the provisions of this Agreement concerning the assignment of wages to the Union for initiation fees, reinstatement fees and regular dues.

### ARTICLE 3 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### **SECTION 1. - PURPOSE**

The purpose of the grievance procedure shall be to settle employee grievances on as low an administrative level as possible and practicable, so as to insure efficiency and employee morale.

#### **SECTION 2. - DEFINITION**

A grievance for the purpose of this procedure shall be considered to be an employee or Union complaint concerned with:

- 1. Discharge, suspension, or other disciplinary action. Charge of favoritism or discrimination.
- 2. Interpretation and application of rules and regulations implementing policies of the Police Department.
- 3. Matters relating to the interpretation and application of the Articles and Sections of this Agreement.

#### **SECTION 3. - PROCEDURE**

Any employee may use this grievance procedure with or without Union assistance. Should an employee process a grievance through the first step provided herein prior to seeking Union aid, the Union may at its discretion, process the grievance anew from the first step. No grievance settlement made as a result of an individually processed grievance shall contravene the provisions of this Agreement.

#### STEP 1

Any employee or the Union with a grievance shall within thirty (30) calendar days of occurrence of same reduce the grievance to writing and submit it to the Chief of Police or his designee, who shall use his best efforts to settle the dispute. The Chief's or his designee's decision shall be submitted in writing to the aggrieved employee and the Union within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the grievance.

#### STEP 2

If the complainant and the Union are not satisfied with the decision rendered by the Chief or his designee, said complainant or the Union shall within ten (10) calendar days submit the grievance, in writing, to the First Selectman, or if said Selectman so designates, in writing, to the Chairman of the Police Commission. The First Selectman, or if said Selectman so designates, the Chairman of the Police Commission, shall within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance submit his decision in writing to the complainant and the Union.

#### STEP 3

If the Union is not satisfied with the decision rendered and elects further processing, it shall, within thirty (30) calendar days, submit the grievance to either the Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration or, if by mutual agreement, to the American Arbitration Association with a copy provided to the Town (failure to provide the Town with a copy will not be used as the basis for raising arbitrability); the costs of the American Arbitration Association shall be shared equally by the parties. The Town, however, can require that a grievance be heard before the American Arbitration Association if it pays for the cost of the arbitrator. The decision rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final and binding upon both parties, and it must be implemented within fifteen (15) working days except that the decision shall not amend or alter this Agreement in any manner. Neither party waives its rights to legal appeal under the Connecticut General Statutes.

#### **SECTION 4. - MEDIATION**

The mediation services of the State Board of Mediation and Arbitration may be used at any step of the grievance procedure.

#### **SECTION 5. - MEETINGS ON GRIEVANCES**

Nothing in this Article shall prohibit the parties from mutually arranging informal meetings at any step of the grievance procedure.

#### **SECTION 6. - RECORDING OF MINUTES OR TESTIMONY**

Either party shall have the right to employ a public stenographer or use a mechanical recording device at any step in this procedure, provided that any costs incurred through the use of a public stenographer or a recording device shall be borne by the party employing same.

#### **SECTION 7. - POLICE UNION AS COMPLAINANT**

The Police Union shall be entitled to submit grievances in the name of the Police Union in the same manner as is provided herein for employees.

#### **SECTION 8.**

If a grievance is not submitted within the prescribed time limit as herein stated, it shall be deemed settled. If the Town fails to render its decision on a grievance within the time limits specified, such grievance shall be processed to the next step.

### ARTICLE 4 DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES & PRIVILEGES

#### **SECTION 1.**

The Chief may conduct informal preliminary inquiries into matters which may lead to disciplinary action taken against an officer.

If the Chief and the officer cannot agree upon a mutually agreeable resolution, the Chief may choose to issue formal charges against the officer and proceed to a formal pre-disciplinary hearing.

Members of the Department shall have the right and choice of Union representation at such inquiry.

At all formal pre-disciplinary hearings conducted by the Chief or the Board of Police Commissioners, all witnesses shall be sworn. Members of the Department charged with or accused of inappropriate conduct/behavior shall have the right and choice of Union representation and a copy of all charges prior to the pre-disciplinary hearing.

Pre-disciplinary hearings shall be closed to the public, including the press, unless such member shall request that it be an open hearing. The use of mechanical recording equipment shall be at the option and expense of the Town or the member involved. The accused will receive a letter advising him of the disposition of his hearing with a copy to the Union within

five (5) calendar days. In the event the Chief, or his designee, deems an immediate suspension should be invoked on the preliminary complaint, such suspension shall be subject to the safeguards of Section 2 below. In such case, the accused officer shall have the right to be immediately charged in writing and provided a formal hearing as soon as practicable.

#### SECTION 2.

There shall be no discipline without just cause.

Any employee who has been disciplined or discharged and who is subsequently exonerated, shall be reinstated without prejudice or loss of seniority and compensated for any loss of wages.

#### **SECTION 3.**

Members under departmental charges shall, for good reason, have and enjoy the right of rescheduling their hearing date.

#### **SECTION 4.**

Whenever a civilian complaint is made against a member or group of members of the Department relating to his or their conduct as an officer, or the manner in which such officer discharges his duties, such complaint will be signed by the Complainant when it is not substantiated by an independent investigation conducted by the Police Department. The officer shall be entitled to be represented, if (s)he chooses, by a representative/attorney approved by the Union.

#### **SECTION 5.**

Once an officer has been formally notified in writing of an inquiry, charges or hearing by the Chief or Board of Police Commissioners, that case will be disposed of within ninety (90) days of notification. A case not disposed of within this time shall be deemed resolved in favor of the officer, and all records pertaining to such case destroyed.

Exceptions to said ninety (90) day limit would be delays on the part of the charged officer or his counsel, proven unavailability of key witness for defense or Chief, Board, or a waiver of such limit by charged officer or his counsel.

It is understood that said time limit applies to intradepartmental activity, not appeals or tribunal hearings outside the department. After said hearing, if the officer is cleared of all charges, no record shall be placed in his personnel file and records shall never be used against the charged party.

#### **SECTION 6.**

- A. Recognition is hereby made of Rule III, Section 5, Rules & Regulations amended. "...He may, for violation of the rules of the Department, issue an official reprimand or suspend for a period of not more than ten (10) days, any member of the department. He must report such action..."
- B. An official reprimand shall be issued and placed in an employee's personnel file only after the disciplinary procedures and privileges of this Agreement have been adhered to,

a violation of the Department Rules and Regulations has occurred, and a finding of guilt has been established.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 7. - INFORMATION MEMO**

An "informational memo" shall be any written report concerning a violation of Department Rules and Regulations and/or General Orders which in itself is considered by the Chief to be too trivial to warrant disciplinary action. However, an accumulation of informational memos could be the basis of charges resulting in disciplinary action.

An "informational memo" shall be any written report concerning a violation of Department Rules and Regulations and/or General Orders that warrants a written warning as corrective action. However, An accumulation of informational memos could result in disciplinary action in excess of a written warning. After the twelve (12) month period from the date of issuance, the fact that an informational memo had existed shall not be a consideration in any pending or future departmental procedure.

Employees shall be provided with a copy of any informational memo which concerns them within forty-eight (48) hours of its issue. The copy shall be hand delivered, or emailed to their work or personal email address or placed within the employee's mailbox within that time. An additional copy shall be similarly provided to the Union representative.

The Town shall request from the State of Connecticut Public Records Administrator that any informational memo in an employee's personnel file shall be removed twelve (12) months from the date of occurrence. After the twelve (12) month period from the date of issuance, the fact that an informational memo had existed shall not be a consideration in any pending or future departmental procedure.

All Sections of this Article are subject to the grievance procedures.

### ARTICLE 5 COURT TIME

#### **SECTION 1.**

Employees who may be required to attend court or meet with court officials or to attend any other proceeding, deposition, appearance that arises out of their official capacity as a police officer with the Town with the knowledge of the Chief or his/her designee on their off duty hours shall be paid for in accordance with the overtime provisions set forth in Article 10 of this Agreement.

#### **SECTION 2.**

Employees will not be entitled to take a vacation day and/or a holiday on the day that they are subpoenaed/scheduled to be in court unless the vacation day and/or holiday was approved by the Chief or his designee prior to receiving a subpoena.

#### **SECTION 3.**

Payment shall be made via the regular weekly payroll and any excess of the State minimum time shall be computed in segments of fifteen (15) minutes. The officer shall sign over to the Town any monies received by the State or a private attorney for their appearance.

#### **SECTION 4.**

If review of a file/preparation for a case is necessary outside of normal working hours, the employee will be paid in accordance with the overtime provisions of this Agreement.

#### **SECTION 5.**

In the event an officer is selected for jury duty, he or she shall be excused from working his or her scheduled shift for each day of jury duty. The Town shall compensate said officer in accordance with state statutes applicable to jury duty. An officer on jury duty on an assigned work day shall be eligible for out-of-station assignments as long as said officer can work the entire assignment.

### ARTICLE 6 SICK LEAVE

#### **SECTION 1.**

Sick leave shall be considered to be absence from duty with pay, for the following reasons:

- 1. Illness or injury while employed by the Town of Branford, exclusive of Worker's Compensation matters.
- 2. When the employee is required to undergo medical, optical, or dental treatment.
- 3. When the serious or sudden illness or injury of a member of the employee's immediate family (spouse, legal guardian, child, step-child, father, step-father, mother, step-mother, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild) and any other person living within the employees household that requires his/her personal attention and assistance.
- 4. Employees who report off duty sick during their tour of duty on a regularly scheduled shift shall be given credit for actual time worked. All other time off due to sickness shall be deducted in  $1/10^{th}$  of an hour increments from accumulated sick leave.
- 5. Employees who report off duty sick during their tour of duty on an overtime shift shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2x) for actual time worked computed to the maximum quarter (1/4) hour. There shall be no deduction from accumulated sick leave. This provision shall be an exception to Article 10 Section 2.

#### **SECTION 2.**

Employees may be absent from duty without loss of sick time and with pay for the following reasons:

1. If an employee loses time because of sickness or injury for which he is entitled to compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act, he shall receive benefits equal to normal full pay for the period of the disability with the Town making up the difference in the amount of such compensation received and the normal amount of weekly pay for no longer than a period of eighteen (18) months. However, it is understood that if it is determined at any time during the employee's absence that (s)he,

because his/her injury, will never be able to perform the essential functions of his/her position, his/her employment with the Town will be separated.

- 2. Provided, however, that the Town shall be entitled to reimbursement for payments made under this Section should the employee have recourse against a third party in accordance with the procedures contained in the Worker's Compensation Law. In cases where the employee does have a third party claim, he shall advise the Town Counsel or have his attorney advise the Town Counsel on progression of his third party claim.
- 3. When an employee in the performance of his duty is exposed to a contagious disease, and contracts this disease as a result of such exposure.
- 4. Any specific awards under the Worker's Compensation Act as a result of injuries or sickness shall not revert to the Town.

#### **SECTION 3.**

- 1. Effective 7-1-87, all new members appointed to the Department shall be credited with sick leave equal to one (1) day times the number of months remaining in the fiscal year. Sick leave credit shall be computed to the first day of the month of appointment.
- 2. All other members shall be entitled to fifteen (15) sick days per fiscal year.
- 3. Effective July 1, 2004 and each July 1<sup>st</sup> thereafter, members will be credited with 1/2 of their annual sick leave allotment; members will be credited with the remaining 1/2 of their annual sick leave allotment on January 1<sup>st</sup> of each fiscal year.
- 4. Employees may accrue up to 130 sick days.

#### **SECTION 4. - SICK LEAVE RECORD**

1. The Department shall maintain a record for each employee of all sick leave taken and accumulated.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

- A record for all members' sick leave taken and accumulated shall be posted in Police Headquarters each month.
- 2. (a.) Any employee who becomes separated from the Department by reason of retirement or death shall be paid (or his estate shall be paid) a sum of money equal to the number of sick days accumulated by said member multiplied by his prevailing rate of pay on the date of his retirement or death.
  - (b.) The provisions of 3(a.) notwithstanding, any employee hired on or after July 1, 1988 who becomes separated from the Department by reason of retirement or death shall be paid (or his estate shall be paid) a sum of money equal to the number of sick days accumulated by said member, not to exceed a maximum of

110 days, multiplied by his prevailing rate of pay on the date of his retirement or death. Any employee hired on or after January 1, 1998 who becomes separated from the Department by reason of retirement or death shall be paid (or his estate shall be paid) a sum of money equal to the number of sick days accumulated by said member, not to exceed a maximum of 40 days, multiplied by his prevailing rate of pay on the date of his retirement or death. Employees hired after January 1, 2000, shall not be entitled to payment for accumulated sick days upon retirement or death. The parties agree not to negotiate changes to this section 4(3) and 4(4) in the future.

3. An employee who becomes separated from the Department by reason of resignation and who gives at least two (2) weeks' written notice of his intent to resign, shall be eligible to redeem his accumulated sick days according to the following schedule:

0 through 5 years of service
6 through 10 years of service
maximum of 25
11 through 15 years of service
maximum of 50
16 or more years of service
subject to
- no redemption of accumulated days to a
- redemption of accumulated days to a

Paragraph 3 of Section 5.

No employee shall redeem more accumulated sick days upon separation from the Department by reason of resignation than (s)he would have been eligible to receive if separated from the Department by reason of retirement or death.

#### **SECTION 5.**

If an employee has used three (3) sick days in a rolling thirty (30) day period (a new thirty day period commences after each absence) the Town may request, in its discretion, a doctor's note from the employee supporting his/her next absence from work. The note is for the purpose of confirming the employee was unable to work, but need not identify the particular illness or medical condition, unless said condition impacts upon the officer's ability to perform the essential functions of the job. The Town will reimburse the employee for any out of pocket co-pay costs.

#### **SECTION 6.**

If an officer books off sick from his/her scheduled shift, he/she shall not be eligible to work overtime until the earlier of the following occurs: (1) being ordered-in; or (2) a period of 12 hours has passed from the end of the scheduled shift in which he/she booked off sick.

Tentative Agreement - New Section - language moved from Article 11, Section 5.

#### **SECTION 7.**

Each employee may choose to exchange in each contract year up to three (3) days of

paid sick leave for three (3) days of paid personal leave. Said personal days may be taken any time during the fiscal year with the prior written approval of the Chief or his designee, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Personal days may be taken in four (4) hour increments. However, the employee must, except in the case of an emergency, make a written request to the Chief not later than two (2) days in advance. However, requests for personal days made with less than the required notice, that arise due to an emergency may be granted in the discretion of the Chief or his designee.

### ARTICLE 7 FUNERAL LEAVE

Any employee shall be allowed up to three (3) days time off with pay, provided he loses assigned days, when the employee is actually in attendance at the funeral or engaged in activities in connection with it, following the death of the following relatives: spouse, legal guardian, child, step-child, father, step-father, mother, step-mother, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild or any other person living in the employee's household. The Chief may allow additional time when necessary.

One (1) day shall be allowed in connection with the death of a stepbrother, step-sister, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, aunt, uncle, brother-in-law and sister-in-law. The Chief may allow additional time when necessary.

### ARTICLE 8 UNIFORMS AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE

#### **SECTION 1.**

Members of the Plain Clothes & Uniform Division of the Department shall be given an annual clothing allowance as follows:

July 1<sup>St</sup> of each fiscal year — \$1,700

Payment shall be made by July 15th

#### **SECTION 2.**

A. All regularly sworn lateral officers appointed to the Department from July 1<sup>st</sup> through December 31<sup>st</sup> of any fiscal year shall receive, upon appointment, the full amount of the uniform allowance set forth in Article 8, Section 1. All regularly sworn lateral officers appointed to the Department from January 1st through June 30<sup>th</sup> of any fiscal year shall receive, upon appointment, the fifty (50) percent of the uniform allowance set forth in Article 8, Section 1. All recruits required to go to POSTC, upon successful completion of the academy, will receive a prorated amount of the uniform allowance set forth in Article 8, Section 1 based upon the month the recruit begins the FTO program. The Town agrees to purchase the POSTC khaki uniform pants and shirts, shoes, belt, jacket, 2 sweat shirts, 1 sweat pant, 4 sweat shorts, 4 t-shirts, 1 baseball cap with logo, 2 POSTC patches, cargo bag and the duty belt and weapon for

recruits.

#### **SECTION 3.**

Personnel who are off duty due to injury, sick leave or leave of absence on July 1<sup>St</sup> shall not receive a clothing/cleaning/maintenance allowance. Upon their return to duty, payment equal to 1/12 of the full amount will be paid for each month of the remainder of the fiscal year. Payment shall be computed to the first day of the month the employee returns to duty.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 4.**

Uniforms and police equipment damaged or destroyed in the actual line of duty shall be repaired or replaced by the Town at no cost to the employee upon proof acceptable to the Chief. Telephone pagers shall be exempt per General Order #93-1.

Any award made or denied shall be returned in writing to the claimant and to a Union official.

#### **SECTION 5.**

Any change of style, type of color of the uniform or attire, or any change of equipment or accourrements initiated and authorized by the Town shall initially be paid for by the Town, in addition to the clothing allowance.

#### **SECTION 6.**

- A. All regularly sworn personnel upon appointment to the Department shall be issued the equipment deemed necessary by the Town.
- B. All regularly sworn personnel shall maintain a complete uniform which shall be in good condition as determined by the Chief. The complete uniform shall be set forth in the Department's General Orders. Uniforms shall be purchased through the clothing allowance or at personal expense. All uniform items shall conform to the Department standards, as determined by the Chief. Any immediate changes to the uniforms required by the Town shall be paid for by the Town.
- C. All personnel on plainclothes assignments may purchase civilian clothing through the clothing allowance. However, personnel on plainclothes assignments shall continue to maintain a "complete uniform."
- D. Certain supplementary uniforms and/or equipment may be purchased at personal expense or through the clothing allowance if such purchase and utilization are approved by the Chief.
- E. All personnel shall purchase road job uniforms consisting of a winter and summer coverall, baseball hat or arctic hat; said uniforms must be specifically approved by the Chief. There will be a phase in period agreed to by the Union President and the Chief during which time either the current or new road job uniform may be worn, except in

situations when two or more officers are working on the same job, in which case the same uniform must be worn.

F. All personnel shall be allowed to purchase a second badge.

#### **SECTION 7.**

Each police officer shall, while on duty, carry a Department issued service weapon and Department issued ammunition. Each police officer, while off duty, may carry any revolver or automatic pistol and ammunition that has been approved by the Chief of Police. The Chief shall make a record of the make, type, model, caliber, and serial number of all firearms carried by police officers and such record shall be kept in the officer's personnel file.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 8.**

In addition to the clothing allowance herein provided, the additional sum of one Hundred (\$100.00) Dollars shall be paid annually to each employee who has performed a minimum of forty (40) hours boat patrol exclusive of emergency calls during the previous fiscal year boating season (Memorial Day to September 30), said sum to be used for the purchase, maintenance and repair of uniforms and footwear peculiar to the boat duty. Authorization for purchases shall be paid by October 15<sup>th</sup> to each employee who, as stated above, has performed a minimum of forty (40) hours boat patrol exclusive of emergency calls during the previous fiscal year boating season (Memorial Day to September 30).

#### ARTICLE 9 HOLIDAYS

#### Tentative Agreement

#### SECTION 1.

The following holidays shall be granted to all members either as paid holidays or compensatory time off at the option of the member and as provided for hereinafter.

New Year's Day

Lincoln's Birthday

Washington's Birthday

Memorial Day

Fourth of July

Labor Day

Columbus Day

Veteran's Day

Good Friday Thanksgiving Day

Easter Martin Luther King Day

Christmas Day

#### Add President's Day and Juneteenth.

Any employee who works on Christmas Day, New Year's Day, Fourth of July, or Thanksgiving shall receive an additional eight (8) hours straight time to his shift pay.

#### Tentative Agreement

#### **SECTION 2.**

Employees who are off-duty on any of the approved holidays by reason of sick leave, vacation, regular days off shall receive either a compensatory time off day or a day's pay at straight time at the option of the employee.

Such holidays shall be accumulative, but compensatory time off for purpose of holiday worked or payment in lieu thereof, shall be taken, subject to department need, within ninety (90) calendar days of the holiday; except for Memorial day and Juneteenth for which compensatory time may be taken subject to department need as determined by the Chief or his designee within ninety (90) calendar days prior to Memorial Day and Juneteenth with the understanding that if the employee takes a day off within the ninety (90) calendar day period prior to Memorial Day and Juneteenth and thereafter his/her employment is separated prior to Memorial day and Juneteenth one day shall be deducted from his/her paycheck from the Town.

Any banked days not used within the allotted timeframe will be paid out to the employee in the pay period following the ninety (90) calendar days. If the employee chooses to receive a day for the holiday he/she will be paid during said paid pay week.

### ARTICLE 10 OVERTIME

#### **Tenative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 1.**

All overtime shall be paid at a time and one-half (1 1/2x) rate and shall be paid for all hours or any portion thereof in excess of eight (8) hours per day, or forty (40) hours per week, or any hours worked outside of the employee's regularly scheduled working hours, as set forth in the bid. Said week shall be as defined in Article 13. There shall be no dual relationship between said week and any pay period established by the Town as a uniform administrative policy. There shall be no pyramiding or duplication of payment of overtime hours.

Compensatory time off can only be earned when actually working overtime covering a shift in patrol or performing investigative functions, as determined by the Chief or designee. Up to a total of twenty four (24) 120 hours of overtime may be accumulated to be used as compensatory time off each fiscal year; however, at no time can an officer exceed twenty-four (24) hours in their compensatory time off bank. Accrued but unused compensatory time off in an officer's twenty-four (24) hour compensatory time off bank may be carried into the next fiscal year, which will count toward the accumulation of twenty-four (24) hours at any point in time and the maximum accumulation of 120 compensatory hours each fiscal year.

Officers can elect to request compensatory time off in lieu of payment. Compensatory time off will accrue at one and one-half (1 1/2) hours; for example, if an officer works eight (8) hours of overtime and (s)he requests compensatory time, twelve (12) hours will be added to the Officer's compensatory time off bank. Compensatory time off shall be used in blocks

of no less than four (4) hours.

Officers can request to be paid out all or some of their accrued compensatory time during any payroll period. Payment will be made to the officer at his/her straight time hourly rate of pay the officer was receiving at the time the compensatory time was earned.

Officers must have the skill and ability, as determined by the Chief or his designee, to perform the overtime assignment or be previously assigned to any specific detail, i.e., matrix, boat, or any other special assignment.

Accrued but unused compensatory time off in an officer's twenty-four (24) hour compensatory time off bank will be paid out at the applicable rate upon separation of employment.

#### Section la.

Day off Rights of Refusal/Overtime

#### **Tentative Agreement**

1. Officers on a regularly scheduled day off and officers whose days off have been changed due to training shall have first right of refusal for overtime.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

- 2. Officers on an approved day off (vacation, holiday, personal or comp day, or a Scheduled Day Off (SD) as specified in Article 13, Section 4) shall have second right of refusal only when the shift taken off is a full eight (8) hour shift. If he/she takes less than eight (8) hours off; he/she will not be considered on a "day off exception" and will follow paragraph number 3 set forth below.
- 3. Officers working regularly scheduled shifts, working a swap, or on a day off as result of a swap, are eligible for third right of refusal (before/after).

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 2.**

Employees required to work on their day off, whether for a full eight (8) hours or less, shall be paid not less than a full day's pay at a time and one-half (1 1/2x) rate. For the purpose of this Section, a day off shall be as defined in **Article 13 - Section 7**. The provision of this Section shall not apply to:

- 1. Employees assigned to Squad C required to work into their regular day off when such overtime is necessary for the completion of an investigation that originated prior to midnight and which was unanticipated by the Department.
- 2. Employees assigned to Squad D required to work into their first day off in order to complete their scheduled tour of duty or to complete an investigation which originated prior to the termination of their shift and was unanticipated by the Department.

- 2. Employees who accept an overtime assignment to Squad D which results in less than eight (8) hours' work on any day off.
- 3. Employees who accept an overtime assignment to a parade, public concert, dedication, road race or similar non-profit function. However, the employee shall be paid for the hours involved with a minimum of four (4) hours. Employees on a regular day off shall have first right of refusal for any such assignments.

#### **Tentative Agreement** – as set forth below.

4. Once a full eight (8) hour shift/overtime assignment has been offered to all eligible employees, an employee may accept an assignment of less than eight hours without receiving any additional hours not actually worked.

#### **Tentative Agreement - New Section**

#### **SECTION 2A.**

Employees who are called in for SWAT or Accident Investigation assignments shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at their time and one half (1 ½) rate. Hours worked beyond the four (4) hour minimum will be paid based on the time actually worked in excess of four (4) hours. This section applies even if an officer is on a day off, vacation, personal, compensatory time, etc.

#### **SECTION 3.**

Employees who may be required to return to duty to perform overtime duties on a regular working day, such overtime not being contiguous to his regular shift, shall be paid not less than four (4) hours' pay at a time and one-half (1 1/2x) rate. For the purpose of this provision, a regular working day shall be an entire twenty-four (24) hour period commencing at midnight during which the employee is scheduled to commence a regular tour of duty. However, an employee called in prior to his regular tour of duty for time continuing to his regular tour of duty shall be paid at the overtime pay rate, but no less than one (1) hour at said overtime pay rate. Personnel already at the station waiting to go on duty may be assigned and shall be paid at a rate of time and one-half (1-1/2x) for actual time worked. Such overtime pay shall be computed on units of fifteen (15) minutes.

An employee may, in the Chief's discretion, be offered and voluntarily accept, a change in his/her regular hours of work that would result in said employee not receiving overtime pay. Said employee, however, would retain the right to work his/her regularly scheduled hours in addition to the hours offered outside of his/her regular shift. Further, an employee may be assigned hours outside of his/her regular hours of work by the Chief, in his discretion, to either the detective bureau or to a temporary special assignment and said employee may, at his/her option, choose to work his/her regular shift on the same day of such assignment.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 3A.**

Whenever vacancies occur on any shift, or any shift is to be augmented, such vacancies or augmentation shall be filled pursuant to **Article 10**, **Section 4**. Whenever vacancies or augmentation cannot be filled by eligible persons, such vacancies or augmentation shall be accomplished by a mandatory rotation selection of officers to be selected from the updated holdover list. Maintaining the hold-over list is the responsibility of the officer assigned to scheduling.

Mandatory overtime hours shall not exceed 4 consecutive hours either before or after an assigned shift. However, officers on mandatory overtime may, at the conclusion of the overtime hours, voluntarily continue to work additional hours, if approved by the Chief or his designee. The exception to mandatory overtime hours not exceeding 4 consecutive hours in a 24-hour period, shall be special events such as the Branford Festival, 4<sup>th</sup> of July celebration or any other unscheduled event or circumstance which would require additional or maximum personnel.

Overtime for special events, such as the Branford Festival, Fireworks or Parades, may be filled in advance, as determined by the Chief of Police or his designee, rather than utilizing the above-referenced procedure. Specifically, prescheduled events are not subject to Sections la and 3A set forth above

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 4.**

Whenever vacancies in the patrol officer rank in any regularly scheduled shift occur prior to the start of the shift because of sick leave or other reasons, such vacancies shall be filled, if the Chief chooses to fill same, by an available patrol officer on an assigned day off. An exception to the foregoing shall be vacancies on Squad B and C, in which case the Chief may choose not to fill such vacancy/vacancies, but may assign an officer(s) on a scheduled working day to overtime hours pursuant to the provisions of Article 10 - Section 3.

Any vacancy described above for the position of Patrol Officer shall first be filled by the next available Patrol Officer on the voluntary overtime list. If the vacancy is not filled voluntarily by a Patrol Officer, it will then be offered to a Detective/Sergeant on the voluntary overtime list prior to an order-in. Detectives/Sergeants can work a patrol vacancy if all patrol officers decline the vacancy before a patrol officer is ordered-in. Detectives/Sergeants shall not be subjected to the order-in list to fill a Patrol Officer vacancy.

Any vacancy described above to fill a Sergeant or Lieutenant's shift shall first be filled by the next available Sergeant or Lieutenant on the voluntary overtime list. If the vacancy is not filled voluntarily by a Sergeant or Lieutenant, it will then be offered to a Captain signed-up for overtime. Captains can work a Sergeant or Lieutenant vacancy if all Sergeants and Lieutenants decline the vacancy before a Sergeant or Lieutenant is ordered-in. However, Captains are not subject to order-ins to fill a Sergeant or Lieutenant position.

Whenever vacancies in the patrol officer rank in any regularly scheduled shift occur

subsequent to the start of the shift because of sick leave or other reasons, such vacancies shall be filled, if the Chief chooses to fill same, according to the provisions of Article 10 - Section 3.

Whenever vacancies in the supervisory rank (Sgt. - Lieut. - Capt.) in any regularly scheduled shift occur prior to the start of the shift because of sick leave or other reasons, such vacancies shall be filled, if the Chief chooses to fill same, by an available supervisory officer on an assigned day off.

Whenever vacancies in the supervisory officer rank in any regularly scheduled shift occur subsequent to the start of the shift because of sick leave or other reasons, such vacancies shall be filled, if the Chief chooses to fill same, according to the provisions of Article 10 - Section 3.

Regular officers may make themselves available for overtime squad assignments on each of their two (2) regular days. off as enumerated below:

A	— В	BL		
<u>1-2</u>	<u>1-2</u>	1-2	1-2	<u>1-2</u>
AA	AA	A	AA	A
BB	<del>BB</del>	BB	<del>BB</del>	—-B
CC	CC		CC	—-cc
Đ	<del>D</del>	DD	DD	DD

If no regular officer on a scheduled day off is available to fill a vacancy the Chief chooses to fill, or to be assigned to augment a regular shift, a regular officer who is on duty on a scheduled working day may be assigned.

However, at no time shall any officer be assigned to work on Squad D followed by Squad B unless deemed to be in the best interest of the Department as determined by the Chief.

When a regular officer is not available to fill such vacancy or augmentation desired by the Chief, supernumerary officers may be assigned.

"Available" shall mean an employee has signed the station extra duty sheet and has been offered and accepted an overtime assignment prior to the preparation of the daily detail, or, can be contacted by the Chief when the daily detail is being prepared.

Subject to the above, regular officers shall have first preference to the available vacancies.

#### Tentative Agreement

"Augment" shall mean an eight (8) hour overtime assignment to a regular shift (A-B-C-D and those shifts enumerated in **Article 13**, **Section 2**) desired by the Chief.

#### Tentative Agreement

Available jobs, patrol shifts and extra duty assignments that start at 00:01 will be filled in accordance with Article 14, Section 1. begin to be filled at 0900 the prior day with the following exceptions: (1) Shifts or assignments that fall between 00:01 on a Saturday (A Squad) through the conclusion of B Squad the following Tuesday will begin to be filled at

09:00 the preceding Friday; (2) a holiday that is being recognized on a Friday will be filled starting at 09:00 on Thursday; and (3) if a holiday is being recognized on a Monday it will begin to be filled at 09:00 the preceding Friday.

Any employee who has already committed himself to an out-of-station assignment is not "available" and cannot abandon a commitment to claim a new assignment. Any employee who has already committed himself to an extra police duty assignment may abandon that assignment to claim an out-of-station assignment.

If a scheduling mistake is made inadvertently, such action shall not be a grievable item.

Personnel assigned to detective, plainclothes, court liaison or other special assignments shall continue to be an exception to replacement.

### ARTICLE 11 VACATIONS

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 1.**

Effective upon execution of this Agreement that expires on June 30, 2027, <u>for employees on the payroll, and retroactive to July 1, 2024</u>, employees shall be granted time off with pay for vacations according to the following schedule:

For the purpose of this Article, the "years of service" mentioned hereinafter shall be calculated to the anniversary date of the member's appointment to the Department as a regular.

Five (5) days after the first year of service.

Ten (10) days Twelve (12) days after two (2) years of service.

Fifteen (15) days after seven (7) years of service.

Twenty (20) days after thirteen (13) years of service.

Twenty-two (22) days after eighteen (18) fifteen (15) years of service.

Twenty-six (26) days after twenty-five (25) twenty (20) years of service.

Certified lateral transfers shall receive twelve (12) days of vacation on a pro-rata basis after the completion of FTO training. Any additional vacation will be earned based on their years of service with the Branford Police Department.

#### **SECTION 2.**

The vacation period shall be between July 1 st through June 30th of the following year, and each employee shall be afforded the opportunity to be off on vacation within the year.

#### **SECTION 3.**

Vacation time shall be taken in increments of not less than one-half (1/2) of a working day.

#### **SECTION 4.**

Any vacation time remaining unused at the end of the vacation period, shall be paid to the

member at his regular rate. Such payment shall be made during the last week of the fiscal year.

#### **SECTION 5.**

Vacation time or holiday time that is cashed out during the fiscal year in lieu of time off will be used in the calculation of an employee's pension for any employee hired prior to the signing of this Agreement which expires June 30, 2013. However, such payment shall not be used in the calculation of an employee's pension for any employee hired after the signing of this Agreement which expires June 30, 2013.

#### <u>Tentative Agreement</u> – Move to Article 6, Section 7 -

#### **SECTION 6.**

Each employee may choose to exchange in each contract year up to three (3) days of paid sick leave for three (3) days of paid personal leave. Said personal days may be taken any time during the fiscal year with the prior written approval of the Chief or his designee, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Personal days may be taken in four (4) hour increments. However, the employee must, except in the case of an emergency, make a written request to the Chief not later than two (2) days in advance. However, requests for personal days made with less than the required notice, that arise due to an emergency may be granted in the discretion of the Chief or his designee.

#### ARTICLE 12 SENIORITY

#### **SECTION 1.**

The seniority rights of all members of the Department shall be based upon length of service only and shall be determined from the day such person or persons were officially appointed as a regular officer in the Department.

It is provided, however, that there shall be seniority in rank and that rank seniority shall be an exception to Section 1. Rank seniority shall accrue from the first day of appointment to any given rank. However, rank seniority shall not be considered in case of layoff as in Section 5 below.

#### **SECTION 2.**

Seniority shall not be broken by vacations, sick time, or any suspension that is less than thirty (30) consecutive working days in duration, or any authorized leave of absence of less than one (1) year.

#### **SECTION 3.**

Employees who may resign voluntarily, or who may be discharged for just cause, or who may take a leave of absence without pay for the purpose of working for another employer shall lose all seniority and shall cease to accrue benefits.

#### **SECTION 4.**

In the event of a dispute between employees concerning any issue not covered by the terms of this Agreement, all other things being equal, seniority shall prevail.

#### **SECTION 5.**

In the event of a reduction in force, layoffs shall be in the inverse order of hiring and recall shall be by seniority. For the purpose of the Section, rank seniority shall not prevail.

#### **SECTION 6.**

Loss of Seniority:

An employee's seniority shall be lost when (s)he:

- (1) terminates voluntarily;
- (2) is discharged for cause;
- (3) fails to report to work within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of notice of recall directed to his/her last known address;
- (4) fails to report to work upon the termination of a FMLA leave or any other authorized leave of absence;
- (5) takes employment elsewhere during a contractual leave of absence without the express consent of the Town;
- (6) is absent from work without proper notification of absence to the Town;
- (7) if the employee is absent as a result of illness, accident or injury on the job for a period equal to eighteen (18) months from the date of an injury; or
- (8) is laid off in excess of recall rights.

An employee whose seniority is lost and employment is separated for any of the reasons outlined in this paragraph, shall be considered a new employee if (s)he is again rehired by the Town. The failure of the Town to rehire such employee shall not be subject to the grievance provisions of this Agreement.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

A 5-2, 5-3 work schedule will be implemented in or about January 2025 as determined by the Chief. At that time, the language set forth below will be implemented.

### ARTICLE 13 HOURS OF WORK/BIDDING

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 1.**

The Department work shift schedule for employees, unless expressly limited by another Article or Section of the Agreement, shall consist of a fifteen (15) week bid shift schedule with employees working five (5) consecutive days on-duty with two (2) consecutive days off-duty, followed by five (5) consecutive days on-duty with three

(3) consecutive days off-duty unless hours of work are changed in accordance with Article 13, Section 4.

A pay period shall commence at 0001 on Monday and continue until 2400 on Sunday, when a new work period begins.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 2.**

Bid shift periods will be fifteen (15) weeks.

#### The Department will maintain three (3) primary shifts, as follows:

Squad A - 0001 to 0800

Squad B- 0800 to 1600

Squad C- 1600 to 2400

The Department shall also maintain the so-called "Early Car" during the primary work shifts, as follows:

Squad A (Early Car Slots A1, A3, A5) - 2300 to 0700

Squad B (Early Car Slots B1, B4, B7) - 0700 to 1500

Squad C (Early Car Slots C1, C4, C7)- 1500 to 2300

#### **Tentative Agreement**

The above "Early Car" slots are bid based on seniority pick, unless at the Chief's discretion it becomes necessary to do otherwise for a specific purpose. Employees shall be assigned to "Early Car" shifts based upon seniority pick in the bidding process. The Early Car is not considered a separate shift for the purpose of requesting time off. Officers who work the Early Car may be ordered to work a maximum of five (5) additional hours to cover a vacancy on a shift.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

The Chief or his/her designee, shall determine the total number of work shift slots per squad for each bid. However, when the number of available officers exceeds twenty-four (24), the following minimum bid slots will be maintained:

Squad  $A - \underline{six}$  (6) bid slots

Squad B - nine (9) bid slots

Squad C - nine (9) bid slots

When staffing permits, the 25<sup>th</sup> bid slot shall be added to A Squad. The 26<sup>th</sup> bid slot and any additional bid slots will be added at the discretion of the Chief or designee. The total number of bid slots will be equal to the number of available officers assigned to Patrol. Once the entire bid is filled, any other new bid slots needed during the bid

#### will be made at the discretion of the Chief or designee.

Appendix A shows the above-listed Squads, bid slots, and the corresponding day off rotation based on twenty-four (24) available officers.

Patrol shift staffing minimum staffing across seven (7) days a week is as follows:

Squad A:1 Supervisor, 4 Patrol Officers scheduled to work.

Squads B and C:1 Supervisor, 5 Patrol Officers scheduled to work.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 3**

Hours of work and work schedules for all members of the bargaining unit shall be reflected in the Department's scheduling software. The Chief or designee can modify the Captain's schedules based on operational needs. However, any changes to a member's schedule must be reflected in the Department's scheduling software prior to a change being implemented. All scheduling changes shall be approved by the Chief or designee.

٠)

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 4.**

The regular work week for employees not assigned to the Patrol Division will be Monday through Friday, five (5) consecutive days on duty (eight (8) hours per day) with two (2) consecutive days off. Each employee will select five (5) additional Scheduled Days Off (SDO) prior to the beginning of the fifteen (15) week bid period. No more than one SDO can be taken during a regularly scheduled workweek.

SDOs shall be scheduled in such a manner that all personnel within a division are not scheduled for the same days off. Officers <u>may</u> request approval from the Chief or designee to <u>change</u> their <u>previously scheduled SDO to another date</u>. All requests are subject to the approval of the Chief or designee.

If an officer changes their SDO they shall forfeit their first right of refusal set forth Article 10 Section 1a., paragraph number 1. Rather, the SDO will be considered an approved day off, subject to Article 10 Section 1a., paragraph number 2, addressing the second right of refusal.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 5.**

As a result of the implementation of the bid shift system and the changing of the bid cycles, an officer may be required to work more or less than five (5) consecutive days in a workweek. Such situations shall not affect any obligation of the Town to provide

consecutive days off. Additionally, an officer who is impacted by the bid shift system and the changing of the bid cycles will not receive additional compensation during the pay period if there is an increase in the number of scheduled work days he/she works, nor will there be a reduction in pay for the pay period if there is a reduction in the number of scheduled workdays.

It is recognized that during the first and last seven (7) days of any work period, days on duty and days off duty may not be consecutive due to the officer's selection of squad and days off during the preceding and succeeding work period.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 6.**

In the event an officer is late for Roll Call on a regularly assigned shift, they shall be docked the corresponding amount of pay computed to the minimum tenth (1/10) of an hour. Should the officer then be required to work beyond their normally scheduled shift, time and one-half pay  $(1 \frac{1}{2})$  shall not commence until a full eight (8) hours have been worked by the officer. Such overtime shall be subject to Article 10, Section 1.

In the event an officer is late for Roll Call for an overtime shift, they will be paid for actual time worked computed to the maximum tenth (1/10) of an hour.

The foregoing docking of pay does not in any manner abridge or replace the Chief's disciplinary options for punctuality violations.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### SECTION 7.

For the purpose of this Article, a day off shall be an entire twenty-four (24) hour period commencing at 0001 during which an officer assigned to Squad A-B-C is not scheduled for a tour of duty.

The Chief may change the shift/day(s) off for any officer or assign such officer to any consecutive eight (8) hour tour of duty for the purpose of the officer participating in any in-service training program by giving the employee written notice of the change seven (7) days in advance. Any employee may waive the notice when circumstances are present which preclude advance notice. The officer shall revert to his original shift/day(s) off at the conclusion of the in-service training program.

Officers assigned to training, who have completed five (5) hours or more of training on a shift shall have satisfied the minimum hours of work to receive eight (8) hours of pay. If an officer assigned to training completes less than five (5) hours of training, they will be assigned to work the remainder of the shift by the Chief or designee.

An officer may request to voluntarily change their shift/days off with the approval of the Chief or designee if the change does not result in any other eligible officer being denied overtime or force any other officer into mandatory overtime. If, however, mandatory overtime occurs after the change of shift or days off an officer must work the mandatory overtime which shall not be a violation of this section.

The Chief may change the hours of work for any officer whenever it is deemed necessary to carry out an investigation or special assignment. The officer will have the option of working their regular shift in addition to the additional hours of work. However, hours of work in excess of 16 consecutive hours must be specifically approved by the Chief or designee.

Management shall be able to designate three (3) giveback days per fiscal year for mandatory annual training. Giveback days are days that an officer will be scheduled for training for no additional compensation at the Chief's discretion. When possible, giveback days will be scheduled during the first or last day of an officer's three-day off cycle so the employee still has two consecutive days off.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 8.**

The Town shall maintain the following supervisory positions:

- 2 Captains
- 3 Lieutenants
- 6 Sergeants

In addition to the above, the Town shall maintain 2 additional supervisory positions. All probationary patrol officers shall be excluded from the bid process unless and until successful completion of probation. Said assignment shall be made by the Chief or designee at least six (6) days prior to the commencement of the work period.

When the number of bid slots exceeds twenty-seven (27), the Chief or designee may assign two (2) officers to a traffic squad. The Chief or designee will determine the length of the assignment. Officers assigned to the traffic squad will not be included in the bidding procedure. If the Chief or designee removes an officer from the traffic squad, the officer may be assigned to patrol in the discretion of the Chief and their new assignment will start at the beginning of a bid cycle.

Officers assigned to the traffic squad will have their hours assigned by the Chief or designee at the beginning of the assignment. The officer assigned to the traffic squad may, at their option, agree to less than two (2) weeks' notice. The days off for officers assigned to the traffic squad will be Sunday/Monday.

Officers assigned to the traffic squad will not be counted towards the minimum manpower of any squad <u>but will be subject to order-ins in accordance with Article 10</u>.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 9.**

Patrol assignments and corresponding days off during each work period shall be established by a seniority bidding process. Assignments and corresponding days off for each work period shall be posted on the roll call bulletin board at least thirty (30) days prior to commencement of the work period. A bid sheet shall be posted simultaneously. Officers shall bid their choice of assignment and corresponding days off at least fourteen (14) days prior to the commencement of the work period. The Chief or designee shall make assignments based on the seniority bidding process and post the work period schedule at least seven (7) days prior to the commencement of the work period.

Should two (2) or more officers share an identical date of appointment and seniority cannot be clearly established as outlined in Article 12, Section 1, the officers' last names shall be listed in alphabetical order, and they shall alternate as the more senior officer when bidding patrol assignments each work period.

Eligible officers assigned to the Patrol Division shall bid a number of assignments equal to their numerical standing on the seniority list. Officers who fail to bid shall be assigned by the Chief or designee.

Officers off duty on an extended sick leave, injury leave, or for any other reason who, based upon a written statement of their treating physician, will be back to work during the first two (2) weeks of the work period, shall be eligible to bid. Should the employee return to work unexpectedly during the work period, they shall be assigned by the Chief or designee.

Officers off duty on extended sick leave, injury leave, or for any other reason that is anticipated to continue through the work period shall not bid. Should the officer return to work unexpectedly during the work period, they shall be assigned by the Chief or designee and remain on that assignment until the next scheduled bid.

Officers transferred to the Patrol Division shall be assigned by the Chief or designee and shall remain on that assignment until the next scheduled bid.

#### **SECTION 10.**

Daily scheduling of assignments shall continue to be made pursuant to Article 10.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### SECTION-11.

Employees assigned to the detective division or other special assignments shall have two (2) consecutive days off, as determined by the Chief or his designee.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 11.**

An officer may work for or exchange working time with another officer, provided:

- There is no added cost to the Department or Town.
- Officers entering into such an agreement receive the approval of the Chief or designee.

If an officer ("Officer 1") swaps shifts with another officer ("Officer 2"), officer 1 assumes the responsibilities of Officer 2, meaning Officer 1 will no longer be considered on a day off if Officer 1 otherwise would have been on a day off on the day of the swap; Officer 1 will be placed on the order-in list in the place of Officer 2. Further, on the day of the swap, Officer 1 will be subject to order-overs in place of Officer 2. However, Officer 1 cannot work sixteen (16) straight hours, unless they agree. Officers ordered-in or held over while working a swap will receive credit on the hold-over list.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 12.**

Any officer who is required to return to duty as part of a Regional Traffic Squad or South Central Regional SWAT call-out may, with the approval of the Chief or designee, whose decision shall be final and binding, be allowed a period of time off, not to exceed eight (8) hours, after the conclusion of the assignment and before beginning his/her regularly scheduled shift.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 13.**

When there is no Lieutenant scheduled on a shift for an entire bid, the most senior Sergeant on the shift will be assigned by the Chief or designee to fill in for and assume the responsibilities of a Lieutenant. The Sergeant assigned to fill in for a Lieutenant will receive a Lieutenant's hourly rate of pay for time actually worked.

### ARTICLE 14 REQUEST FOR AND GRANTING OF TIME OFF

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### SECTION 1.

Filling open patrol shifts and extra duty assignments:

All open patrol shifts and extra duty assignments that start at 00:01 will begin to be filled at 09:00 two (2) days (48 hours) prior to the start of the shift with the following exceptions:

1. Open weekend shifts that fall between 00:01 on Saturday (A Squad) and 16:00 on the following Monday (C Squad) will be filled starting at 09:00 on Thursday.

2. If a holiday has an impact on the schedule, the shifts will either be filled a day earlier or extended a day later.

All open Extra Duty Assignments that start at 00:01 will begin to be filled at 09:00 one (1) day (24 hours) prior to the start of the assignment with the following exceptions:

1. If a holiday has an impact on the schedule, the assignment may either be filled a day earlier or be extended a day later.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 2.**

In order to efficiently run the department, officers will be granted time off as follows:

- A. One (1) Supervisor will be granted time off per shift.
- B. Two (2) officers will be allowed time off each shift if there are seven (7) officers assigned to a shift per the bidding process.
- C. One (1) officer will be granted time off each shift if there are six (6) or fewer officers assigned to the shift per the bidding process.
- D. Time off for vacation, holidays, compensatory time, and personal days is treated equally, meaning a request for a certain category of leave does not trump a request off for another category of leave, i.e., a request for vacation does not take priority over a request for compensatory time off.
- E. Additional officers may be granted time off in the sole discretion of the Chief or designee which shall not set a precedent or practice.
- F. The granting of time off will be based upon seniority, the position/job classification of the officer requesting time off and the number of employees who have already been granted time off.
- G.Officers shall submit time off requests to the scheduling officer two (2) days in advance of the requested time off with the following exception: officers that are ordered to fill a shift vacancy forty-eight (48) hours prior to any time off request may be denied such request.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

H.Officers requesting time off on a Saturday, Sunday, or a Monday must submit time off requests by 1200 hrs on the preceding Thursday.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

I. Officers requesting time off on a holiday weekend, when the holiday falls on a Friday, shall submit their time off request for Saturday, Sunday, or Monday by 1200 hrs on the preceding Thursday.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

J. Officers requesting time off on a holiday weekend, when the holiday falls on a Monday, shall submit their time off requests for Sunday, Monday, or Tuesday by 1200 hrs on the preceding Friday.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

K. Officers who request time off within a current bid cycle will be approved or denied within forty-eight (48) hours of the requested time off.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

L. If an Officer is not working on a Friday or is working the C shift on a Friday, and who wants to request time off on Saturday, Sunday, or Monday, he/she can call the scheduling officer before 1200 hrs on Thursday to request time off. The scheduling officer will fill out a time off slip for the Officer. Personal contact must be made directly with the scheduling officer or designee; voice mail, text messages or other communications are not acceptable. (The same procedures for holiday weekends apply as stated herein.)

#### **Tentative Agreement**

M. Emergency time off on a Saturday or a Sunday that is not substituted in a timely manner will be considered on a case-by-case basis and may only be granted at the discretion of the Chief of Police or designee. Approval of emergency time off shall not set a precedent or a practice for future requests for time off that are not submitted in a timely manner.

### ARTICLE 15 EXTRA OR SPECIAL POLICE DUTY

#### **SECTION 1.**

The terms "Extra Police Work" or "Extra Police Duty" for the purpose of this Article, shall mean police duty for which an employee is paid by the Special Services Account.

NOTE: In connection with "Extra Police Work" or "Extra Police Duty" the Chief may, at his/her discretion, assign a supervisor (sergeant or above) to events and activities and for any such supervisor the hourly rate shall be an additional fifty cents (\$.50) per hour.

#### SECTION 2.

A. Employees who desire assignments to extra duty work shall notify the Chief or Deputy Chief or any other person designated by the Chief and must be available for such assignment.

#### Tentative Agreement

Interim requests for Special Police Duty will be filled as received utilizing the sign-up sheet.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### C. Day off - Right of Refusal/Extra Duty

1. Officers on regularly scheduled day off and officers whose day off has been changed due to training, shall have first right of refusal for overtime.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

- 2. Officers on an approved day off (vacation, holiday, personal or comp day, or an SDO that has been changed in accordance with Article 13, Section 4) shall have second right of refusal only when the shift taken off is a full eight (8) hour shift. If he/she takes less than eight (8) hours off, he/she will not be considered on a "day off exception" and will follow paragraph 3 set forth below.
- 3. Officers working regularly scheduled shifts, working a swap, or on a day off as a result of a swap, are eligible for third right of result (before/after).

All available regulars on a scheduled day off shall have first right of refusal for any special Police Duty. All available regulars before/after shift shall have second right of refusal for any Special Police Duty.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

Full-time officers shall have the first right of refusal for special duty contracted by the Pine Orchard Association at the rates listed below.

If a scheduling error is made inadvertently, such action shall not be a grievable item.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### SECTION 3.

Any extra duty performed for any party, other than the Board of Education and Associations, shall be known as private duty. All private duty wherein the primary function is the direction of traffic shall be known as "Traffic". All other private duty shall be known

as "Security".

Overtime performed by an officer that is paid out of the Town's budget and not reimbursed by a third party shall be paid at an officer's applicable overtime rate and will be considered "station overtime" as set forth in the Police Retirement Fund.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 4.**

All extra duty work listed below shall be paid at time and one-half  $(1 \frac{1}{2})$  the top step patrolman's pay.

Traffic

Security

However, the hourly rate shall be reduced by 10 % if said work is performed on behalf of or funded by a student organization.

All Extra Police Duty shall be a minimum of five (5) hours pay.

An exception to this section shall be Parker Park assignments which shall be the supernumerary rate of pay.

In the event a contractor cancels a job less than an hour before the requested start time, the officer will receive five (5) hours private duty pay.

#### **SECTION 5.**

All private duty assignments performed where the primary function is traffic and performed on Saturday or Sunday shall be paid at double time (2x) the top step patrolman's hourly rate of pay.

#### **SECTION 6.**

All hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day on any private job shall be paid as follows:

Traffic - Double time (2x) the top step patrolman's hourly rate of pay.

Security - Double time (2x) the top step patrolman's hourly rate of pay.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### SECTION 7.

Officers shall be paid, as set forth below, for all private work performed on the actual day the holiday falls, or on the day the Town observes the holiday as set forth below:

#### **Actual Day The Holiday Falls**

New Year's Day

Independence Day Veteran's Day

Good Friday

Easter

Memorial Day

Thanksgiving Day **Christmas Day** 

Labor Day

33

#### Day the Town Observes The Holiday

Martin Luther King, Jr Day President's Day

Juneteenth Columbus Day

Traffic - Double time (2x) the top step patrolman's hourly rate of pay. Security - Double time (2x) the top step patrolman's hourly rate of pay.

#### **SECTION 8.**

The Town shall be responsible for the billing, payment, and maintenance of records for extra duty assignments.

#### **SECTION 9.**

An officer who retires from the Police Department in good standing and who retains employment as a Supernumerary shall have first right of refusal to a Supernumerary assignment and shall receive the applicable supernumerary rate of pay.

#### ARTICLE 16 RATES OF PAY

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 1.**

The following grades of patrolman are hereby established:

Patrolman Grade C twelve (12) months

Patrolman Grade B2 twelve (12) months

Patrolman Grade B1 twelve (12) months

Patrolman Grade A

A new employee shall commence his duties as a Patrolman Grade C and shall serve in said grade for a maximum period of twelve (12) months. During the twelve (12) month period, the officer will receive the state mandated FTO training; however, if the FTO instructor believes further training is necessary, a request for said training should be made to the Chief, who will decide if further training will be provided. Thereafter, the patrolman shall be promoted to Patrolman Grade B2 and shall serve in said grade for a maximum period of twelve (12) months, after which he shall be promoted to Patrolman Grade B1 in which grade he shall serve a maximum of twelve (12) months, after which he shall be promoted to Patrolman Grade A. The Town reserves the right and privilege of reducing the maximum time to be served in each of the above grades by earlier promotions and further reserves the right to waive service in the above grades entirely.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 2.**

A. The rates of pay for members of the bargaining unit shall be shown in the Appendix B as follows:

Fiscal year 2017-2018 2.5% (retroactive for employees on the payroll as of ratification and approval of this Agreement)

Fiscal year 2018-2019 2.5% (retroactive for employees on the payroll as of ratification and approval of this Agreement)

```
Fiscal year 2019-2020 2.5%
```

Fiscal year 2020-2021 2.5%

Fiscal year 2021-2022 2.5%

- Effective on execution for employees on the payroll and retroactive to July 1, 2022 2.5%.
- Effective on execution for employees on the payroll and retroactive to July 1, 2023 2.5%.
- Effective on execution for employees on the payroll and retroactive to July 1, 2024 - 5.25% (comprised of a 2.75% Retention Adjustment and a 2.5% GWI).
- Effective July 1, 2025 2.75%
- Effective July 1, 2026 2.75%

Employees will be paid based upon a regularly scheduled 40-hour work week even in weeks that they are regularly scheduled to work less than 40 hours because of the 5-2/5-3 work schedule; therefore, hourly rates are calculated by dividing the salaries set forth in Appendix B by 2080.

#### Tentative Agreement

#### **SECTION 3.**

Effective with the signing of this Agreement that expires on June 30, 2022, the base pay of the Patrol Sergeants shall be increased by five-hundred dollars (\$500.00) after the general wage increase has been applied.

Effective July 1, 2019, the base pay of the Patrol Sergeants shall be increased by five-hundred dollars (\$500.00) after the general wage increase has been applied.

An overtime roster will be prepared by the Chief or his designee and posted. Overtime will be distributed as fairly and equitably as possible. Regular full-time Police Officers shall receive preference for all overtime and extra-duty work. Refusal to accept overtime will be recorded accordingly.

Officers working the C shift will receive a shift differential premium of twenty-five cents (\$0.25) per hour; officers working the D shift will receive a shift differential premium of thirty-five cents (\$0.35); and officers working the A shift will receive a shift differential premium of forty-five cents (\$0.45) per hour.

#### ARTICLE 17 HEALTH AND MEDICAL PLAN

#### **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 1.**

A.The Town shall make available to its full-time employees and their dependents Medical and Prescription Drug coverage and Dental coverage (hereinafter referred to as health plan(s)").

On the first day of the month following an employee's date of hire, unless the employee's date of hire is the first day of the month, Following thirty (30) days of employment, the Town shall make available to its full-time employees and their dependents Medical and Prescription Drug coverage and Dental coverage (hereinafter referred to as health insurance plan(s)"). The Medical and Prescription drug coverage will be provided by the Connecticut Partnership Plan 2.0. A Medical Benefit Summary is attached as Appendix C. Dependents are eligible to remain on the Town's Medical Plan up to age twenty-six (26) in accordance with applicable law. Further, if applicable law requires that dependents are be allowed to remain on the Town's Medical Plan up to age twenty-six (26), and if permitted by the Town's Dental Plan, dependents up to age twenty-six (26) will also be allowed to remain on the Town's Dental Plan.

All eligible employees and dependents will have the choice of enrolling in the following medical options: a Century Preferred \$25 Co-Pay Plan or a \$1,500/\$3,000 deductible HDHP plan. Employees may remain enrolled in the \$1,500/\$3,000 deductible HDHP until June 30, 2019. If employees enroll in the \$1,500/\$3,000 deductible HDHP the Town will contribute \$625 each plan year to an employee's account with single coverage and \$1,750 to an employee's account with single plus one or family coverage. Employees must be enrolled in the HDHP for the entire plan year.

On July 1, 2019, the current \$1,500/\$3,000 deductible HDHP plan will change to a \$2,000/\$4,000 HDHP plan with a Town contribution equal to 50% of the applicable \$2,000/\$4,000 deductible. The Town's contribution will be prorated for new hires based upon the month of the fiscal year that they are covered by the HDHP.

Effective July 1, 2019, anyone who wishes to remain covered by the Century Preferred plan must pay the difference (buy up) through payroll deduction between the Town's cost for the HDHP plan, including the Town's deductible funding, and the cost of the Century Preferred plan.

The Town of Branford may provide medical and prescription drug benefits, as described above, through alternative carriers or through self-insurance, as long as benefits are provided on a reasonably equivalent basis. All references to specific vendors will be made generic. Employees will be notified of any change in carrier or plan administration thirty (30) calendar days prior to said change or as soon as practicable.

#### **Tentative Agreement**

All members of the bargaining unit shall contribute, by authorized payroll deduction, to the premium cost of the health insurance plans, according to the following schedule. Such contributions will be deducted weekly by the Town on a pre-tax basis.

a. Effective upon execution of this Agreement that expires on June 30, 2027, employees shall continue to contribute the following amount towards the premium cost of the health insurance plans provided by the Town, by payroll deduction:

CT Partnership Plan 2.0 - 13%

b. Effective July 1, 2025, employees shall contribute the following amounts towards the premium cost of the health insurance plans provided by the Town, by payroll deduction:

CT Partnership Plan 2.0 - 14%

c. Effective July 1, 2026, employees shall contribute the following amounts towards the premium cost of the health insurance plans provided by the Town, by payroll deduction:

CT Partnership Plan 2.0 - 14%

B. Employees may elect to waive, in writing, the health insurance coverage provided above and in lieu thereof may receive an annual payment from the Town of \$2,000 for waiving coverage for each fiscal year during which the employee continues to elect not to participate in such coverage. Such payment will be issued in equal payments of \$1,000 in December and June of each fiscal year, and will be subject to normal employment tax withholding and deductions. To receive such payment, an eligible employee must complete and submit a form provided by the Town no later than June 1 of each fiscal year indicating his/her intent not to participate in the Town-provided insurance coverage. Further, such employees must present evidence to the Town that they are covered under another insurance program. Employees whose spouse has access to either Town or Branford Board of Education medical benefits shall not be entitled to receive payments for waiving insurance coverage.

Employees may elect to resume health insurance coverage due to the occurrence of one of the following conditions for which documentation and a request for reinstatement must be submitted to the Human Resource Director in writing:

- 1. Involuntary termination of the alternative health benefit plan coverage;
- 2. Ineligibility of the employee and/or dependent(s) under the alternative plan;
- 3. The employee acquires a new dependent through marriage, birth or adoption and the new dependent is not covered by the alternative plan;
- 4. Coverage under the alternative plan is substantially reduced or the cost of

the plan to the employee substantially increases.

Upon receipt of such request and documentation, insurance coverage provided by the Town shall be reinstated as soon as possible, including waiting periods, which may be prescribed by the applicable plan. Employees who are reinstated to insurance coverage provided by the Town shall reimburse, the Town, by payroll deduction the prorata share of any waiver payment made.

B. The Town will provide life insurance coverage for employees in the amount of \$100,000.

# **Tentative Agreement**

# **SECTION 2.**

- a. Effective as set forth in Section 1 above, each employee who retires and who has completed at least twenty-five (25) or more years of service with the Branford Police Department shall be provided with the following medical insurance coverage provided to bargaining unit members, for the retiree and his/her spouse, which is subject to change as a result of negotiations.
  - 1. Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield Century Preferred
  - 2. Dental Plan

If an employee retires after completing at least twenty-five (25) or more years of service with the Branford Police Department and (s)he is under the age of fifty (50), the cost of the insurance benefits set forth in 2(a) shall be paid 100% by the Town for the retiree only, i.e., no spousal contribution, until the retiree reaches the age of fifty (50), at which time the Town will contribute towards the cost of insurance in accordance with 2(d) below.

If an employee retires as a direct result of an injury sustained in the line of duty which makes him/her medically unable to ever again perform the essential functions of a police officer, the Town shall pay the cost of COBRA for a period of up to eighteen (18) months from the date of retirement.

The retiree and his/her spouse understand that the coverage listed above will change in accordance with future changes in coverage made for bargaining unit members by the Town.

b. Each employee who retires from the Branford Police Department due to a permanent and total disability arising from the performance of his duties as a police officer and who is physically incapable of gainful employment shall be provided with the same medical coverage as set forth in Section 2(a), above, for the retiree and his spouse only. The Town may require an annual review of the disabled retiree's physical condition to determine continued eligibility to receive this benefit.

c. When the retiree or spouse is eligible for Medicare, the Town shall provide and pay for the Plan F supplement to Medicare, if available, or the most recent Plan supplement to Medicare in lieu of the insurance coverage described in 2(a) above.

# **Tentative Agreement**

d. The cost of the insurance benefits set forth in 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c) above shall be paid 100% by the Town for the retiree and 50% by the Town for the retiree's spouse. The obligation of the Town to provide or pay for the cost of the benefits set forth above in 2(a), 2(b) and 2(c) provided to current bargaining unit employees shall continue only during the life of the retiree; provided that the retiree and his spouse shall remain eligible for those benefits under the regulations of the insurance carrier.

If the retiree or his spouse is offered comparable insurance coverage to the insurance coverage being offered by the Town, said retiree and his spouse shall not receive the insurance offered by the Town. If there is a premium share required by the insurance plan, the Town shall reimburse the retiree for said cost. However, if the retiree or his spouse thereafter become ineligible for the insurance, the retiree and his spouse shall receive the insurance benefits offered by the Town, as set forth in this section.

- e. No insurance claim, cost premium or payment shall be made retroactively from the date of the execution of this Agreement.
- f. In the event any police officer dies in the line of duty, his surviving spouse shall be provided with the insurance benefits set forth in 2(a) and 2(c) above. The Town shall pay 50% of the cost of these benefits unless and until the spouse (i) remarries, (ii) has similar insurance benefits available to her through her employer, or (iii) is otherwise ineligible for these benefits under the regulations of the insurance carrier.
- g. For a spouse to be eligible for medical benefits in accordance with the requirements of this Section, (s)he must: (1) be the spouse of the employee at the time of retirement as set forth above and in accordance with Section 2a, and thereafter remain the employee's spouse; (2) be the spouse of the employee at the time of permanent and total disability, as set forth above and in accordance with Section 2b, and thereafter remain the employee's spouse; or (3) be the employee's spouse at the time of death, as set forth above in and in accordance with Section 2f.
- h. Employees hired after January 15, 2010 will be entitled to medical insurance coverage in accordance with the requirements of Section 2; however, the spouse of an employee hired after January 15, 2010 will not be entitled to medical insurance coverage.

# ARTICLE 18 PROBATIONARY PERIOD

New employees shall serve a probationary period of twelve (12) months, exclusive of time spent during their recruit and in-service training programs, and shall have no seniority rights

during this period, but shall be subject to all other provisions of this Agreement except Article 3 and Article 4, in the event of discharge before completion of probationary period. Days lost from work in excess often (10) consecutive work days, for any reason during the probationary period shall not be counted for purposes of computing the probationary period. All employees after completion of probationary period shall acquire length of service records, as of their date of employment.

# ARTICLE 19 GENERAL PROVISIONS

# **SECTION 1.**

Members shall not, under any conditions be required to transport persons in the Town Ambulance or Town police motor vehicles when it is known that such persons are suffering from serious communicable diseases, and whenever persons meeting this health description become police custody, and it is necessary for Department employees to be in close proximity to such persons, the Department shall provide such employees with protective equipment and take any other measures that will tend to safeguard the health of the employee.

# **SECTION 2.**

Watches and jewelry (as approved by the Chief and not to exceed \$250.00 per item), eyeglasses, clothing, and dentures lost, or other personal items damaged or destroyed in the actual line of duty, shall be repaired or replaced, as the case may be, by the Town, which then may be claimed under Worker's Compensation where applicable. This is not intended to insure for personal loss due to negligence.

# **SECTION 3.**

The Police Union shall be permitted to place notices on a bulletin board to be provided in a conspicuous place.

# **SECTION 4.**

Any member of the Department injured or otherwise disabled while making or attempting to make an arrest, or in the performance of any recognized police duty during his off-duty time shall be entitled to full pay during the time necessary to recover. Where applicable, appropriate claims shall be made under Worker's Compensation.

# **SECTION 5.**

All books, pamphlets, pads, and other similar required equipment used in the Department training program shall be provided by the Town at no cost to the members attending.

# **SECTION 6.**

If any Article or any Section of this contract is declared invalid for any reason, such declaration of invalidity shall not affect the remaining Articles and Sections or portions thereof which shall be valid.

#### SECTION 7.

The Town agrees to continue in force all benefits of whatever nature presently enjoyed by the members, not covered by the terms of this Agreement, unless specifically modified or abridged by this Agreement.

# **SECTION 8.**

All parties to this Agreement shall cooperate in the enforcement of safety rules and regulations. Complaints with respect to unsafe or unhealthy working conditions shall be brought to the attention of the shift officer or the Chief of Police. Employees shall not be required to operate vehicles with unsafe equipment.

# **SECTION 9.**

- A. Police Union officers and delegates shall be allowed time off to attend Union meetings and functions without loss of pay; provided the aggregate time off per year shall not exceed sixty (60) hours. No more than two (2) members will leave a duty shift to attend such sessions.
- B. The Chief of Police shall permit two (2) or more on duty Union members to attend any legally constituted Union meeting of Unit 459, UPSEU/COPS conducted within the geographical limits of the Town of Branford. However, such on duty Union members shall leave the meeting and immediately respond to any request for police service when directed by the shift supervisor or other superior officer.

# **SECTION 10.**

The officers and representatives of the Union shall be granted reasonable time off without loss of pay to negotiate the contract, handle grievances and arbitration, and complaints, and meet with Town officials to discuss and confer on items of mutual benefit. No more than two (2) members shall leave a duty shift to attend such sessions.

# **SECTION 11.**

The Town agrees to effectively assist any member in collecting any witness fee or fees due such member by reason of his response to a subpoena, issued by an attorney in connection with any court case, and when the attorney issuing such subpoena fails, neglects, or refuses to pay such member the witness fee or fees due him as provided by law.

# **SECTION 12.**

No employee of the Department shall be required to install, repair or replace any permanent traffic control signs, except in an emergency (such as propping a fallen stop sign until other Town employees can permanently repair same). Temporary signs, such as cardboard emergency "No Parking" signs, shall be installed by the command as ordered by the Chief.

# **SECTION 13.**

The Department shall continue to furnish necessary equipment as it has customarily furnished in the past, shall maintain the same in good working order, and employees shall utilize such equipment when so directed by the Chief.

# **SECTION 14.**

A member of the Department may be granted a leave of absence without pay, provided, however, that during the period of said leave of absence, said member shall not be entitled to accrual of benefit time nor payment for sick days, holidays, vacations, nor insurance benefits during his absence. Special consideration for medical insurance and other benefits may be given when such leave is for medical reasons.

# **SECTION 15.**

Employees shall not he required to shovel snow, wash vehicles, or perform non-police duties.

# **SECTION 16.**

The Town shall supply the Police Department with appropriate volumes of the Connecticut General Statutes Annotated and the Branford Street Directory.

# **SECTION 17.**

The Town shall insure each member of the bargaining unit against false arrest suits, on or off duty, but only while acting as a policeman. Such insurance shall be secured with an insurance company authorized to do business in the State of Connecticut, the Town to pay the premium on same. The Town of Branford will provide Police Professional Liability insurance at a limit not less than one million dollars. Each employee agrees to abide by the terms of said policy.

# **SECTION 18.**

In the case of an accident involving the driver of a Police Department vehicle, the driver shall not be relieved of duty, sent home, or any action taken against him unless he is in violation of Department Rules and Regulations or until a complete investigation has been made by the Chief and the driver has actually been found at fault.

# **SECTION 19.**

There shall be no discrimination, coercion, or intimidation of any kind against any employee because of his membership or non-membership in the Union. Each employee has and shall be protected in the exercise of his right, without fear of penalty or reprisal, to join and assist the Union.

Such rights shall include the right to participation in the management of the Union, acting for the Union as an officer and representative, and presenting Union views to the public, to officials of the Town and Department, to the Town Meeting or members of the State Legislature.

# **SECTION 20.**

Every employee shall have the right to review all of his personnel file, upon request to the Chief of Police.

# **SECTION 21.**

An employee shall be granted three (3) days off with pay for the birth his/her child.

# **SECTION 22.**

Every employee covered by this Agreement who is a member of a reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States shall be granted a leave of absence during the time of his annual tour of duty as a member of such reserve component. The Town shall pay the employee the differential between his military pay and his regular police salary.

# **SECTION 23.**

No Article or Section thereof in this Agreement shall prevent any member of the Department from holding outside employment, other than police duty, so long as such employment does not conflict with the member's duties as a police officer, subject to the Chiefs approval which will not be unreasonably withheld.

# **SECTION 24.**

The Town may, but need not, operate one or more police boats owned by the Town. Personnel deemed qualified by the Chief may be assigned to duty on the police boat. The scheduling of the police boat will be determined by the Chief or his designee.

Whenever inclement weather is apparent or, is forecast by the weather bureau to be inclement, the Chief may, in his discretion, cancel the boat patrol. If the cancellation is ordered less than one (1) hour prior to the reporting time, the assigned officers shall be compensated four (4) hours pay at the time and one half rate  $(1^{1}/2)$ , unless said assignment is during the officer's regular shift. If the assignment is cancelled after the starting time officers shall be paid for time worked, but in no case less that four (4) hours, unless said assignment is during the officer's regular shift.

Whenever two (2) qualified members of the bargaining unit are not available to man a police boat, the Chief may assign one (1) or more qualified Civilian volunteers as limited duty boat officers to man the police boats. Nothing in this paragraph shall preclude the use of limited duty boat officers in private boats to supplement the Town's police boat.

# **SECTION 25.**

The Department shall have the right, but not the obligation, to employ one or more civilian dispatcher assistants who shall not be members of the bargaining unit, but who shall work under the direct supervision of a sworn regular police officer who shall be in the same building as the civilian dispatcher assistants.

# **SECTION 26.**

The Department shall have the right, but not the obligation, to employ one or more limited duty officers who shall not be members of the bargaining unit, for the sole purpose of parking enforcement, which is defined as tagging improperly parked motor vehicles in Branford's town center revitalization area. Said limited duty officers shall be on foot patrol.

# **SECTION 27.**

Without limiting any current rule, regulation or contractual provision, no employee shall possess, distribute, sell or be under the influence of alcohol during working hours or while operating a Town vehicle. Further, no employee shall possess, distribute, sell or be under the influence of any illegal drug during working hours, during non-working hours or while

operating a Town vehicle. Illegal drugs include any controlled substance as defined by applicable state or federal statutes and regulations. Use or possession of a controlled substance during working hours or while operating a Town vehicle which has been prescribed by a medical or dental practitioner licensed to prescribe controlled substances is not prohibited by this Section, but may violate other rules, regulations or contractual provisions if the employee's ability to do his job safely and properly is unreasonably impaired. This Section is not intended to prevent officers from carrying out their assignments within the scope of their duties as a police officer.

# **SECTION 28.**

All employees hired after the date of the arbitration award (i.e., August 9, 1991) shall be non-smokers. As a condition of continued employment such employees shall not smoke or use tobacco in any form on duty. Any act committed by an employee in violation of this provision will subject said employee to disciplinary action as deemed proper by the Chief. However, the employee shall be given at least one (1) written warning. Current no smoking rules and regulations shall continue to apply.

# SECTION 29.

Officers assigned by the Chief to perform as FTO's shall be paid at a premium rate of an additional 5% of his/her regular rate during the hours that (s)he is actually training other officers or an additional 5% of the overtime rate for patrol officers when actually training officers during overtime hours.

# SECTION 30.

The Chief or his designee may assign Officers, regardless of their rank, to any assignment as long as the assignment does not result in an Officer having to supervise a higher-ranking Officer.

# ARTICLE 20 LONGEVITY

# **Tentative Agreement**

Employees regularly scheduled to work a minimum of forty (40) hours per week, <u>or the 5/2 5/3 schedule</u>, shall in addition to their regular pay receive the following longevity payment.

Five (5) years' service	\$535.00 annually
Ten (10) years' service	\$625.00 annually
Fifteen (15) years' service	\$735.00 annually
Twenty (20) years' service	\$955.00 annually

Longevity payments shall be made in annual lump sum payments during the first pay period after February 1<sup>st</sup> of each calendar year.

Longevity payment shall be determined by length of service attained during the calendar

year during which it is paid. Longevity payment shall not be paid during the calendar year following retirement or other separation. Longevity shall remain a factor in computing pension payment.

Employees hired after January 15, 2010 will not be eligible for any longevity payments.

# ARTICLE 21 PENSION

The benefits and provisions of the Police Pension Trust Fund are in effect and said benefits are subject to negotiations in accordance with a Pension Memorandum of Agreement in effect through August 10, 2031.

# ARTICLE 22 PROMOTIONS

All promotions within the unit shall be made from qualified employees within the Department. Promotions shall only be made after competitive examinations conducted by impartial, qualified examiners, and examination results shall be given fair weight in promotions along with other attributes. Nothing herein shall prevent the Commission through the Chief from assigning personnel, regardless of rank, to detective, plainclothes, court liaison, or other special assignments.

If the Chief determines that a promoted employee's work performance is determined to be unsatisfactory within the first six (6) months in the new position, such employee may be removed from the new position and be assigned back into his/her prior position. The decision of the Chief may be appealed to the Board of Police Commissioners. Days lost from work in excess of ten (10) consecutive work days, for any reason during the probationary period shall not be counted for purposes of computing the six (6) month probationary period.

A copy of an employee's evaluation forms shall be made available by the Town and shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.

# **Tentative Agreement**

#### **SECTION 1.**

Patrol Officers are eligible for the rank of Sergeant once he/she has successfully completed five (5) years of continuous service in the Branford Police Department on the date the job is posted.

Lateral transfer officers are eligible for the position of Sergeant upon completing five (5) years of combined service **on the date the job is posted**, to include time served from a Connecticut municipal or State Police agency and has completed probation at the Branford Police Department.

Any officer on probation, for any reason, will not be eligible to take a promotional exam.

# **SECTION 2.**

Eligible employees applying for the position of Captain must have five (5) years of continuous supervisory service, plus the rank of Lieutenant at the time of the application. The hiring process will consist of a review of the employee's job performance, an oral exam and a written exam. The examination process will be weighted as follows: oral exam (45%); written exam (45%); and past job performance (10%). The Town may, in its discretion, choose to promote any of the top three (3) ranked applicants. For the second and subsequent exams, ten (10) additional points will be awarded to those applicants who have successfully attained at least a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university.

# **SECTION 3**

The Town shall post a promotional exam at least six (6) months prior to any known supervisory vacancy that is going to be filled according to the collective bargaining agreement. The promotional list will expire twelve (12) months from the same day that it was established.

The Town shall post a promotional exam within thirty (30) days of any unexpected supervisory vacancy that is going to be filled according to the collective bargaining agreement. The promotional list will expire twelve (12) months from the same day that it was established.

# ARTICLE 23 EDUCATION INCENTIVE

# **Tentative Agreement**

# **SECTION 1.**

Employees who were hired prior to the signing of this Agreement that expires on June 30, 2022 (insert date the Agreement was signed), working a minimum of forty (40) hours per week or the 5/2 5/3 schedule, shall in addition to their regular pay receive the following payment for college credits earned in police science which will be an addition to annual salary or wages and apart from same. Such payment is not part of pension base.

The following payment for college credits earned in police science which will be an addition to annual salary or wages and apart from same with said payment not a part of pension base:

30 credits	\$225
60 credits	\$325
90 credits or A.S. degree	\$475
120 credits or Bachelors degree	\$575
M.S. degree	\$725

College credit payments shall be made in lump sum payments during the first pay period

after March 1st.

Regular members of the Department will be eligible for college incentive payments upon meeting the following conditions:

- 1. Must have earned credits in courses taken in a police science degree program at a fully accredited college. Or, credits to include attendance for the requisite period at an accredited law school or a course directly related to the criminal justice system as approved by the Chief (his determination is final and binding) once an employee attains a master's degree in police science, he will be entitled to the master's degree educational incentive.
- 2. Must have earned the required credits from the police science degree program of a school of higher education that was fully accredited during the enrollment period in which the credits were earned.
- 3. Must provide proof of accreditation of school giving credits and proof of credits or degree(s) earned.
- 4. Must be a regular police officer and have been such a member of the Department for a period of three (3) years and attained the rank of at least Grade A Patrolman.

Any prior incentive credits awarded by the Commission prior to this date will be honored through this Agreement and successor agreements.

Employees who have been certified by the State of Connecticut as EMT (Emergency Medical Technician) and so long as they maintain such certification shall be compensated at the annual additional rate of \$150.00 on the first pay period of March. Employees must be a regular member of this department for at least three (3) years to be eligible for such payment.

# SECTION 2.

The Town shall pay the cost of tuition for attending up to a maximum of four (4) courses per fiscal year towards an associate's degree, a bachelor's degree or master's degree. Officers will be allowed to take the minimum number of elective courses needed to obtain an associates and/or bachelor's degree.

- 1. Employees who are afforded the opportunity of attending a school of higher learning shall be required to maintain a letter grade of "C" or better, or if graded on a point system, an average of 2.0 or better. No tuition shall be paid for a succeeding semester when the officer has: (i) receive d less than a "C" or "2.0", (ii) withdrawn from a course too late for the Town to be fully reimbursed for said course, except for just cause as determined by the Chief, (iii) had an "Incomplete" for any course taken, or (iv) failed to register after having indicated an intent to do so and funds have been allocated to the Department's budget for that purpose.
- 2. The officer has made his request in writing for tuition reimbursement in time for inclusion in the Department's annual budget request.

3. The officer authorizes the school or educational institution to provide a copy of his final grade to the Department's training officer.

Employees will be allowed to receive tuition reimbursement in accordance with this Article for one (1) associates, one (1) bachelor's degree and one (1) master's degree:

# ARTICLE 24 PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS

The Town shall require an annual physical examination for each employee. The examination shall be conducted by the employee's own physician and the cost of said examination shall not exceed \$100.00 and shall be paid by the Town. The cost of supplemental tests and laboratory work shall be defrayed by Anthem Blue Cross or Blue Shield benefits; where available. The tests or elements of the examination shall relate only to heart and hypertension issues and shall be agreed upon by the Union and the Town. The results of the examination and the test results shall be reported to the Police Chief and shall be maintained in the employee's medical file. Each employee shall notify the Chief in writing at least ten (10) days prior to the date of a scheduled physical examination if a change of shift/day off is necessary to accommodate the appointment in order that the Town shall not incur any overtime or additional salary costs.

# ARTICLE 25 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

# Tentative Agreement

This Agreement shall be effective upon execution and shall remain in effect until June 30, 2022 2027. This contract shall after that date remain in effect during negotiations until agreement is reached to amend or modify this Agreement. In the event the Town obtains bids for substitute insurance coverage, it shall meet with the Union and review said insurance carrier substitution, with changes in carriers, if any, subject to mutual agreement. Until an agreement is reached, the present contract will remain in force. The parties agree to meet and discuss a new agreement under the terms of applicable state law.

- \*Also, the Union agrees to withdraw, with prejudice, any currently pending MPPs or grievances contesting the Town's change to the CT Partnership Plan and no longer offering the PPO or HDHP, including the appeal of the Board of Labor Relations decision regarding the Town's change to the CT Partnership Plan.
- \*\* The Town and the Union can enter into an MOA specifying that the language in the expired CBA regarding scheduling (and any other applicable to the 5-2 schedule) will remain in place pending the change to the 5-2/5-3 schedule.

# SIGNATURE BLOCK

their duly authorized representatives this	
UNITED PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES	TOWN OF BRANFORD UNION/COPS
BY: Ronald E. Suraci, Director	BY: James Cosgrove, First Selectman
BY: Kevin E. Boyle, UPSEU President	BY: Margaret Luberda, Human Resource Director
BY: Stanley Konesky, Union President	BY: Jon Mulhern, Police Chief
Negotiator	

# **EXHIBIT A**

8	B	ย	밁	Q	5	Ç	ឆ	ß	L	2	Ľ	ŗ		_	8	¥	Ħ	¥	Ħ	¥	8	_	본	_	C I				2		ই	1	+-	\$	£	\$	₹	- 1	ដ	<u>r</u> ;	ř
Tumpet	Tumpità	Tampid (EC)	Temp#2	Tanger'I	Tempét (EC)	Temp#1	Tamp#1	Tempel (EC)		Zampěl	±emp#2	Temper	SQUADO		Temptd	Tempés	DanjelS (EC)	Tempé2	T-mp42	Tampés (EC)	Tempéi	Timp#1	Tampét (IIC)		Tangas Conduct	Yediner	G OVIDS	*10 (3)	Lamp	1	Temp#1	Tempéd	Templit (EC)	Tranp#2	Tempét2 (EC)	Tuppil.	Trapet (RC)		Tunp#2		Dadina)(
Ľ	ľ	5	*	2	Ö	_	_	5	н	~	7		- [	-		_	5			ğ	_	_	$\rightarrow$	W	A 6	<u> </u>	 	5		_		L	3	f	Ş	4	OE C		A I	<u> </u>	5
-	ļΤ							-	2	F			Ŧ	•	i					4		=		2 2	۲,	ļ	- н	-		•	*				ï			2 2 2		4	
			$\exists$	7	4	=		F	N	Ι.			7											22	4	F	# H			÷					F	Τ.		2	+	4	
H									22			-	¥ 9											P.	-[		M M	-		•	*		-		-			12			_
						_			10			7	K	-		4					~-			2 2		Ī	ĺX	-	L.F	e e		F	Ė		₫		-	ы	ď	1	Ⅎ
			4					F	14				H H H	-				Ę						2 2	۹,		H H	•		*			1	ı	H			12		1	
			Ħ		4				2				w	-	-	٠,		_						2 2	. g. 45	ļ	-	4		*	*	, , ,		L	Ļ.			N) H2		J	
				-					2 2				100			_								2 2		9	×	-			4 4		-	L	Ŀ			2 2	_		Ξ
F				ď			_		4		į	1	H W	-	-					Ţ				2 2			H	-		9		ţ.	t					2			
ı						_			1	ļ			刂	•	•						_			2	\		H	-		-				ſ				12			
	- A	200	4			15,	Siring Siring	500	2 2	10			TESMIWIF				. 70	1						2 2 2		Ļ	- 1	=		1 1			ļ.			Ţ		13		Ť	
		6.2.1	7795	illa -	5.22				2 2 2			_	×			=	2.52		700					N		- 6			H		*	t						1 2	J	ı,	_
ļ.,									N				*	=	4							1		2 2		+	H H	•		•	-	t	ļ.,	;		_	E	₩.		+	_
				_					N				H	-								_		2	7		H		7	•	-							2 2		-	
			-				141		2 2				ia G	7	2	Œ	٠.			1	ı			2	71		9	•	LI	•								22	-		
	H	$\exists$		Ⅎ	J				2 2 :			1	1	8 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	1	4								)4  4		ı	-	-		•	*	L	L			Į		22	٥		_
	Ш					╗			2	F.		╛	7	=										2 2		1	\$	-		9		Г				L	E	2 2		1	_
				1	1	.1		0.0	2		Phys		•	-				.			1		(BY	2		<u></u>	-	-		] 🗖	*			E	ļ. Ţ.			**			
			╣	1		0	72		2 2				=	-				_	-					N N	-	١	3	-			<i>∳</i> .⇒	Ź		L.,	Ť			**	-6	ď	
									2 2				7	-	_	1							T	2			<b>→</b>	-		•	*	Ł	╁		_			7 1			_
L					Į		_	_	2 2			╛	=	-	$\exists$	+					_			2 2		ł	7	-		9		H		ı		L		2 2	H	$\mp$	_
					1				2 2	10	_		WIESTW?	•						- 1				2 2				-		9				, T.				2 2	7	-	
			$\pm$	$\pm$					2 2		$\exists$	$\exists$		-		1		-	-	_				2 2	$\pm$		×			4	•	F	F	F	F			2 2		F	_
	}-		1		ď				1			$\exists$	W Ty				-						•	2 2		i	¥.	-		•	*	F	F		İ.			2	J		
			i.	F.	X.	20			2 2	J			4	•							2010	Sal.	70 l	2 2			*	•		•		2	L	۲				2 2			
			ž.			e e	أنعك		2 2				Z										ा,	12		Ξ	×	•		•		9130			i	F		2			
	Н	$\dashv$	$\exists$	$\dashv$	$\exists$				2 2		Н		H	-	-	ŀ	٦.	-	$\exists$					2 2 2 2	-	-	T.A	-		•	*	F	+	i	Ì			NJ NJ			
	Н	$\dashv$			H	$\dashv$			2 2				Η	-		ŀ					$\exists$	-		2		Ŧ	7-	•		9	*	F	F	ı				2 2		7	
a.		2430	Ľ.						2 2				4 u	-			3		907					2 2 2	-	ŀ	U4 U4	-	32712				L	F	W.,	32	Н	2 2			
		4	$\exists$	Ŧ	4				2 2	_			7	:	7	٦		-	$\exists$					10		Ţ	1 2	-			•	P	F	Г	1-		-55	2 2	-		I
H	Н	$\dashv$	+	$\dashv$	_				2 2		$\exists$		¥.	-		4	_	$\exists$	$\exists$					2 2 2	-		TWT	-		•		-		÷	ŀ	•		*	-		_
		. 0							2 2				*	-										2 2		F	7	-		•	*	H	-	ı				2		7	_
			-	-					2 2	Ĺ.,	,		u K	-					339					2 2			<u>ه</u> <u>ک</u>			•				F	je,	Pp.		2 1			
			Ŧ	7	1				2 2			٠,٠	H	-	-	4		4	$\exists$	7			- 5	100			#	-						Ļ	۲.			12		- (s	. * "
	Н	4							1 1			-	H	-	+	4	-					=		2 2 2			17	-		•		F	Ļ.		١.		7	14			_
	Н				ı	-			2	1.			<b>14</b>	-			20			İ		-		2 2 2	-	+		-		9				ı		-		12		1	
			$\dashv$	$\exists$	7	7			2				E	•						_	7	-		2	7	ŀ	-	-		-				F	Ţ		Г	2	7	1	
F	Н	4	1	4	1			Ξ	2 2 2		4	7	¥ -4	-	4	4	7	7	_	4				2 2 2	-	1	* 1.5	-		•	*		Ļ	-				2 2			_
		[,		1			0		2 2 2	··· 1			7	-	ije.	300								2		F		•		•	•		4	-				2 2 2	ار		_
			Ŧ	٩	4		-		1 2		۹,	3	=	-	Αŋ,	2		-			7			2		ŀ		:		- -				F	F	Ξ		2 2		4	-
			7	1	1	4			2		=	j	7	-			J	-		7	1	4		2	4	Ī	H 7	-	11	•	•				-	<u> </u>	-	2 2	1		
	П	7	#	7	4	ľ	Į	Ī	2 2	7	4		<b>∃</b> [	- I	7	7	٦		7	4				2 2	7	ı	- <del>*</del> -			•	*	!	Γ	1	-			2 2 2	4		_
	П			Ė	ľ				2 2	100			•			1		ď						2 2		1		-				ļ.,		ı	b	7		2 2		1	
				-	4				2 2			'n	X H	-	. 234						1		- (	2		ľ	X H	•			-	1	Ĺ	ı	F			12		_	
Ē			7	1	4				2				¥ H	-				4	4			Ì		2	#	Ļ	*			•			Ī	L	Ļ		1	2	- (		
		7 2 C I		<u></u>	255				2 2 2			П	×	- [	-	4	4			.7.				2	1	1	7	-	- ATE	1 1 1	4 4 4	1		F		ı		P 2	<b>!</b>		_
			-cit 17		17				2 2			7	94 94	-	#				Ú					2		f			11.	•			1		′∵ ا	S	M	2 7 2	0.2.1	1	
		أر	Ţ	7	1	4	$\exists$		2 2			j	H	- 1	ď						1	4		2	٦	Ĺ	*	-		*	•		Ĺ	ſ	Γ			2	+		
Ē			$\dashv$	#	1				2 2 2				H		Ę	Ę		1	7					2 2		Ļ	P)	•		•			į	E		L		2 2	-	J	
		3 U	::)(:		:	٦			2			لنس	<b>(4</b>	•	4	1					Ι,			₩.	ls ( c.		us i	-		:	*		-					N3 K3			
	Ħ	V 14				1			2 2 2			#	9 M I	-	1	#					1			2 2 2		1	×	•		-	*	L		1				2 2			_
3		أو	7	1		1	$\exists$		2	=			#	-	.;			7			7		_	2 2 2	٦,		₩.	•		-			١		f	Ŀ	H	2 2	A3	-	1
			rim.	+		ď		Į	2 2 ;		(4)		H H			1		1					8	2 2 2	7	١	1	•		•	4		ľ	L	ŀ			2 2	j		<b>2</b>
H	Н			+	-				2 2			+	<b>9</b>	•	-	+	_	-						2			9					-	4	+-	F	į,		2 2	-		_

.

# **EXHIBIT B**

EXHIBIT B 2022 - 2027 RATES OF PAY

					2.50%	2.50%		5.25%		2.75%		2.75%
		7/1//	7/1/21 - 6/30/22	7/1	7/1/22 6/30/23	7/1/23 - 6/30/24	7/1/.	7/1/24 - 6/30/25*	7/11/	7/1/25 - 6/30/26	7/1/2	7/1/26 - 6/30/27
Captain												
	Hourty	€3.	48.54	↔	49.75	\$ 50.99	<del>⇔</del>	53.67	₩	55.15	₩	56.67
	Annual	₩	100,963.20	₩	103,480.00	\$ 106,059.20	↔	111,633.60	₩	114,712.00	\$	117,873.60
<b>Detective Lieutenant</b>											:	
	Hourly	\$	48.54	\$	49.75	\$ 50.99	₩	53.67	₩,	55.15	₩	56.67
	Annual	<b>₹</b> \$	100,963.20	\$	103,480.00	\$ 106,059.20	↔	111,633.60	49	114,712.00	₩	117,873.60
Lieutenant												
	Hourly	\$	46.88	\$	48.05	\$ 49.25	↔	51.84	₩	53.27	₩	54.73
	Annuat	\$	97,510.40	\$	99,944.00	\$ 102,440.00	\$	107,827.20	\$	110,801.60	\$	113,838.40
<b>Detective Sergeant</b>												
	Hourly	\$	46.88	\$	48.05	\$ 49.25	\$	51.84	\$	53.27	\$	54.73
	Annual	\$	97,510.40	\$	99,944.00	\$ 102,440.00	\$	107,827.20	↔	110,801.60	↔	113,838.40
Sergeant												
	Hourly	€\$	44.28	\$	45.39	\$ 46.52	\$	48.96	<del>\$</del>	50.31	\$	51.69
	Annual	₩	92,102.40	₩	94,411.20	\$ 96,761.60	<del>\$</del>	101,836.80	\$	104,644.80	\$	107,515.20
Detective					-							
	Hourly	<del>\$</del> 3	43.77	\$	44.86	\$ 45.98	\$	48.39	\$	49.72	\$	51.09
	Annual	\$	91,041.60	↔	93,308.80	\$ 95,638.40	₩	100,651.20	<del>\$</del>	103,417.60	↔	106,267.20
Youth Officer												
	Hourty	€9.	43.77	₩	44.86	\$ 45.98	₩	48.39	↔	49.72	€>	51.09
	Annual	₩.	91,041.60	₩	93,308.80	\$ 95,638.40	€9	100,651.20	€	103,417.60	€	106,267.20

EXHIBIT B 2022 - 2027 RATES OF PAY

				2.50%	2.50%	%0	5.25%		2.75%		2.75%
		2/1/21 - 6/30/22		7/1/22 6/30/23	7/1/23 - 6/30/24	_	7/1/24 - 6/30/25*	7/1/25 - 6/30/26	30/26	7/1/26	7/1/26 - 6/30/27
Patrol Officer A											
	Hourly	\$ 40.58	\$ 89	41.59	\$ 42.63	3 \$	44.87	\$	46.10	↔	47.37
	Annual	\$ 84,406.40	\$ 0;	86,507.20	\$ 88,670.40	\$ 0	93,329.60	\$ 95,8	95,888.00	<del>\$</del>	98,529.60
School Resource Officer	cer										
	Hourty	\$ 40.58	<del>\$</del> 9	41.59	\$ 42.63	3	44.87	\$	46.10	₩.	47.37
	Annual	\$ 84,406.40	\$ 0	86,507.20	\$ 88,670.40	\$ 0	93,329.60	3'56 \$	95,888.00	<del>\$</del>	98,529.60
Patrol Officer B1											
	Hourly	\$ 39.20	\$ 0.	40.18	\$ 41.18	\$ 8	43.34	\$	44.53	↔	45.75
	Annual	\$ 81,536.00	\$ 0	83,574.40	\$ 85,654.40	\$ 0	90,147.20	9'76 \$	92,622.40	\$	95,160.00
Patrol Officer B2											
	Hourly	\$ 35.37	\$ 2	36.25	37.16	\$ 9	39.11	\$	40.19	\$	41.30
	Annual	\$ 73,569.60	\$ 0.	75,400.00	\$ 77,292.80	\$ 0	81,348.80	3'68 \$	83,595.20	\$	85,904.00
Patrol Officer C											
	Hourly	\$ 31.34	\$	32.12	\$ 32.92	2 \$	34.65	\$	35.60	\$	36.58
	Annual	\$ 65,187.20	\$ 0.	66,809.60	\$ 68,473.60	\$ 0	72,072.00	\$ 74,0	74,048.00	₩	76,086.40

\*Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is comprised of a 2.75% Retention Adjustment and a 2.50% GWI

# **EXHIBIT C**

Coverage for: Individual/Family | Plan Type: POS

The Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) document will help you choose a health plan. The SBC shows you how you and the plan would share the cost for covered healthcare services. NOTE: Information about the cost of this plan (called the premium) will be provided separately.

terms, such as allowed amount, balance billing, coinsurance, copay, deductible, provider, or other underlined terms see the Glossary. You can view the Glossary at https://osc.ct.gov/ctpartner/docs/State%20of%20CT%202023%20Partnership%20Medical-Plan-Document-Rev.03.2024.pdf For general definitions of common **This is only a summary.** For more information about your coverage, or to get a copy of the complete terms of coverage, visit http://www.cciio.cms.gov or call Quantum Health at 1-833-740-3258 to request a copy.

Important Questions	Answers	Why This Matters:
What is the overall deductible?	In-network: \$350/individual; \$1,400/family. Waived for Health Enhancement Program (HEP) Members and pre-October 2, 2011 retirees Out-of-network: \$300/individual; \$900/family	Generally, you must pay all of the costs from <u>providers</u> up to the <u>deductible</u> amount before this <u>plan</u> begins to pay. Once you or a family member meets the individual <u>deductible</u> amount, the <u>plan</u> begins to pay for you or that family member. If you have other family members on the <u>plan</u> , each family member must meet their own individual <u>deductible</u> until the total amount of <u>deductible</u> expenses paid by all family members meets the overall family <u>deductible</u> .
Are there services covered before you meet your <u>deductible</u> ?	Yes. In-network primary care and specialist office visits, in-network preventive care, prescription drugs, emergency room care, in-network urgent care, in-network mental health and substance abuse outpatient services, and in-network eye exams are covered before you meet your deductible.	This <u>plan</u> covers some items and services even if you haven't yet met the <u>deductible</u> amount. But a <u>copay</u> or <u>coinsurance</u> may apply. For example, this <u>plan</u> covers certain <u>preventive services</u> without <u>cost sharing</u> and before you meet your <u>deductible</u> . See a list of covered <u>preventive services</u> at <u>https://www.healthcare.gov/coverage/preventive-care-benefits/</u>
Are there other deductibles for specific services?	No.	You don't have to meet <u>deductibles</u> for specific services.
What is the <u>out-of-</u> pocket limit for this <u>plan</u> ?	Medical: In-network: \$2,000/individual; \$4,000/family; Out-of-network: \$2,300/individual; \$4,900/family Prescription drugs: \$4,600/individual; \$9,200/family	The <u>out-of-pocket limit</u> is the most you could pay in a year for covered services. If you have other family members in this <u>plan,</u> they have to meet their own <u>out-of-pocket limits</u> until the overall family <u>out-of-pocket limit</u> has been met.
What is not included in the <u>out-of-pocket</u> <u>limit?</u>	Premiums, balance-billing charges, penalties for failure to obtain prior authorization for services and health care this <u>plan</u> doesn't cover.	Even though you pay these expenses, they don't count toward the <u>out-of-pocket limit.</u>

Important Questions	Answers	Why This Matters:
Will you pay less if you use a <u>network</u> <u>provider</u> ?	Yes. See https://carecompass.quantum-health.com/ or call 1-833-740-3258 for a list of network providers.	This <u>plan</u> uses a <u>provider network</u> . You will pay less if you use a <u>provider</u> in the <u>plan's network</u> . You will pay the most if you use an <u>out-of-network provider</u> , and you might receive a bill from a <u>provider</u> for the difference between the <u>provider's</u> charge and what your <u>plan</u> pays ( <u>balance billing</u> ). Be aware your <u>network provider</u> might use an <u>out-of-network provider</u> for some services (such as lab work). Check with your <u>provider</u> before you get services.
Do you need a <u>referral</u> to see a <u>specialist</u> ?	No.	You can see the <u>specialist</u> you choose without a <u>referral</u> .



All copayment and coinsurance costs shown in this chart are after your deductible has been met, if a deductible applies.

			What You Will Pay		
Common Medical Event	Services You May Need	Tier 1 In-Network Provider (You will pay the least)	In-Network Provider	Out-of-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information
	Primary care visit to treat an injury or illness	No charge. <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	\$15 <u>copay</u> /visit Pre-1999 Retirees: \$5 <u>copay</u> /visit <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	
If you visit a health care provider's office or clinic	Specialist visit	No charge. <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	\$15 copay/visit Pre-1999 Retirees: \$5 copay/visit Deductible does not apply.	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	None.
	Preventive care/screening/ immunization	No charge. <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	No charge. <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	You may have to pay for services that aren't preventive. Ask your <u>provider</u> if the services needed are preventive. Then check what your <u>plan</u> will pay for.

40% coinsurance
20% coinsurance 40% 20% coinsurance 40%
% coinsur

		- :	What You Will Pay		
Common Medical Event	Services You May Need	lier 1 <u>In-Network</u> <u>Provider</u> (You will pay the least)	In-Network Provider	Out-ot-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information
	Generic drugs	Preferred generic - Non-Maintenance: \$5 copay/fill retail; Preferred generic - Maintenance: \$5 copay/fill mail order or Maintenance drug pharmacy. Non-preferred generic: Non-Maintenance: \$10 copay/fill retail; Non-preferred - Maintenance: \$10 copay/fill mail order or Maintenance drug pharmacy. Retired July 2, 2009 – October 1, 2011: Non-Maintenance: \$5 copay/fill retail; Maintenance: \$0 copay/initial fill mail order/maintenance drug pharmacy. Pre-July 1, 2009 retirees: Non-maintenance: \$3 copay/fill retail; Maintenance: \$0 copay/initial fill mail order/Maintenance drug pharmacy	intenance: \$5 copay/fill laintenance: \$5 copay/fill drug pharmacy. Non-ntenance: \$10 copay/fill tenance: \$10 copay/fill drug pharmacy. Retired 311: Non-Maintenance: \$5 e: \$0 copay/initial fill mail armacy. Pre-July 1, 2009 \$3 copay/fill retail; al fill mail armacy.	20% <u>coinsurance</u> for non-participating pharmacy.	Deductible will not apply to prescription drug coverage. No charge for generic preventive care drugs (e.g., FDA-approved generic contraceptives) or brand name preventive care drugs if generic drugs are not medically appropriate). See details of your coverage for slightly adjusted copays for persons retired between July 1, 2009 and October 1, 2011, and persons

retired after October 1, 2011. Check the details at <a href="https://carecompass.ct.gov/state/pharmacy/">https://carecompass.ct.gov/state/pharmacy/</a> Maintenance drugs must be filled by mail order or maintenance drug pharmacy after first initial retail fill. Penalty may apply if brand name drug	is requested when a generic is available.  Prescription drugs purchased at a retail pharmacy are limited to a maximum of a 30-day supply; prescription drugs purchased through mail order or maintenance drug pharmacy are limited to a maximum of a 90-day supply.  For some prescription drugs, prior	authorization may be required. <u>Prescription drug coverage</u> is separately administered.	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information	Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost	of services.
20% <u>coinsurance</u> for non-participating pharmacy.	20% <u>coinsurance</u> for non-participating pharmacy.	Not covered	Out-of-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	20% coinsurance	20% coinsurance
Non-Maintenance: \$25 copay/fill retail; Maintenance: \$25 copay/initial fill mail order/Maintenance drug pharmacy. Retired July 2, 2009 – October 1, 2011: Non-Maintenance: \$10 copay/fill retail; Maintenance: \$25 copay/initial fill; \$25 copay/fill mail order/Maintenance drug pharmacy. Pre-July 1, 2009 retirees: Non-Maintenance: \$6 copay/fill retail; Maintenance: \$0 copay/initial fill; \$0 copay/fill mail order/Maintenance drug pharmacy.	Non-Maintenance: \$40 <u>copay</u> /fill retail; Maintenance: \$40 <u>copay</u> /initial fill mail order/Maintenance drug pharmacy. Retired July 2, 2009 — October 1, 2011: Non-Maintenance: \$25 <u>copay</u> /fill retail; Maintenance: \$0 <u>copay</u> /initial fill mail order/ maintenance drug pharmacy. Pre-July 1, 2009 retirees: Non-Maintenance: \$6 <u>copay</u> /fill retail; Maintenance: \$0 <u>copay</u> /initial fill mail order/maintenance drug pharmacy	No charge for specialty drugs if enrolled in PrudentRx program. Same as non-preferred brand drugs if not enrolled in PrudentRx program.	Tier 1 In-Network Provider (You will pay the least)	No charge	No charge
Preferred brand drugs	Non-preferred brand drugs	Specialty drugs	Services You May Need	Facility fee (e.g., ambulatory surgery center)	Physician/surgeon fees
If you need drugs to treat your illness or condition  More information about prescription drug coverage is available at	https://carecompass.ct.gov/state/pharmacy/		Common Medical Event	If you have outpatient	surgery

If you need immediate medical	Emergency room <u>care</u>	\$250 copay/visit. Retired October 2, 2011 – October 1, 2017: \$35 copay/visit Pre-October 2, 2011 Retirees: No charge Deductible does not apply.	\$250 copay/visit Retired October 2, 2011 – October 1, 2017: \$35 copay/visit Pre-October 2, 2011 Retirees: No charge Deductible does not apply.	Copay waived if admitted or if no reasonable medical alternative.
attention	Emergency medical transportation	No charge	No charge	None.
	<u>Urgent care</u>	\$15 <u>copay</u> /visit Pre-1999 Retiree: \$5 <u>copay</u> /visit <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	None.
If you have a hospital stay	Facility fee (e.g., hospital room)	No charge	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost of services.  No coverage in excess of cost of a semi-private room unless medically necessary.
	Physician/surgeon fees	No charge	20% coinsurance	Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost of services.

			What You Will Pay		
Common Medical Event	Services You May Need	Tier 1 In-Network Provider (You will pay the least)	In-Network Provider	Out-of-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information
If you need mental health, behavioral	Outpatient services	\$15 copay/visit Pre-1999 Retirees: \$5 copay/visit Deductible does not apply. No charge for non-office visit outpatient services.	visit outpatient services.	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	None.

health, or substance abuse services	Inpatient services	No charge	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost of services.
lf you are pregnant	Office visits	\$15 <u>copay</u> /first visit only Pre-1999 Retiree: \$5 <u>copay</u> /initial visit only <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	Cost sharing does not apply for preventive care services. Depending on the type of services, a copay, coinsurance, or deductible may apply. Maternity care may include tests and services described within another section (i.e., ultrasound).
	Childbirth/delivery professional services	No charge	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost
	Childbirth/delivery facility services	No charge	20% coinsurance	of services.

	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information	Limit: 200 visits/calendar year.	Prior authorization required (except for pre-1999 retirees) to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of covered services.  In-network speech therapy limit: 30 visits/calendar year. Limit does not apply to treatment resulting from autism, stroke, tumor removal, injury or congenital anomalies of oropharynx.  Out-of-network physical, occupational, chiropractic, speech & autism therapy limit: 30 visits/condition/calendar year.	None.	Out-of-network services limit: 60 days/calendar year. Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost of services.	Prior authorization required to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost of services.	Out-of-network in-home hospice limit: 200 visits/calendar year. Out-of-network inpatient hospice limit: 60 days/calendar year. Prior authorization required for inpatient services to avoid penalty of lesser of \$500 or 20% of cost of services.
	Out-of-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	20% coinsurance	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	20% coinsurance	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	20% <u>coinsurance</u>
What You Will Pay	In-Network Provider						
	Tier 1 In-Network Provider (You will pay the least)	No charge	No charge	No charge	No charge	No charge	No charge
	Services You May Need	Home health care	Rehabilitation services	Habilitation services	Skilled nursing care	Durable medical equipment	Hospice services
	Common Medical Event			recovering or	nave otner special health needs		

	>	Tier 1 In-Network	What You Will Pay	Out-of-Network	
Common Medical Event	Services you May Need	Provider (You will pay the least)	In-Network Provider	Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information
	Children's eye exam	\$15 <u>copay</u> /visit <u>Deductible</u> does not apply.		50% <u>coinsurance</u>	Limit: 1 visit/calendar year.
n your child needs dental or	Children's glasses	Not covered		Not covered	You must pay 100% of this service, even <u>in-network</u> .
eye cale	Children's dental check-up	Not covered		Not covered	You must pay 100% of this service, even in-network.

# Excluded Services & Other Covered Services:

Services Your Plan Generally Does NOT Cover (Check your policy or plan document for more information and a list of any other excluded services.

- Children's dental check-up
  - Children's glasses
    - Cosmetic surgery
- Dental care (Adult)

- Routine foot care
  - covered).

Long-term care

Non-emergency care outside the U.S. (<u>urgent care</u>

# Other Covered Services (Limitations may apply to these services. This isn't a complete list. Please see your plan document.)

Chiropractic care (limit: 30 <u>out-of-network</u>

visits/year)

- Acupuncture (covered only if medically necessary associated with surgery, chemotherapy or for osteoarthritis or nausea and vomiting
- pregnancy)Bariatric surgery (prior authorization required)

devices)

- Private duty nursing (prior authorization required) Infertility treatment (prior authorization required) Hearing aid (limit: 1 set per 36 month period; prior
  - Routine eye care (Adult) (limit: 1 exam/year)
  - authorization may be required for bone-anchored

Your Rights to Continue Coverage: There are agencies that can help if you want to continue your coverage after it ends. The contact information for those agencies Other coverage options may be available to you too, including buying individual insurance coverage through the Health Insurance Marketplace. For more information is: the Department of Health and Human Services, Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, at 877-267-2323 x61565 or http://www.cciio.cms.gov. about the Marketplace, visit www.HealthCare.gov or call 800-318-2596.

grievance or appeal. For more information about your rights, look at the explanation of benefits you will receive for that medical claim. Your plan documents also provide complete information on how to submit a claim, appeal, or a grievance for any reason to your plan. For more information about your rights, this notice, or assistance, Your Grievance and Appeals Rights: There are agencies that can help if you have a complaint against your plan for a denial of a claim. This complaint is called a contact:

Quantum Health 5240 Blazer Parkway Dublin, OH 43017 1-833-740-3258

CVS/Caremark
Prescription Claim Appeals MC109
P.O. Box 52084
Phoenix, AZ 85072-2084
Fax: 866-443-1172

Additionally, a consumer assistance program can help you file your appeal. Contact the Connecticut Office of the Healthcare Advocate at 866-466-4446.

# Does this plan provide Minimum Essential Coverage? Yes

Minimum Essential Coverage generally includes plans, health insurance available through the Marketplace or other individual market policies, Medicare, Medicaid, CHIP, FRICARE, and certain other coverage. If you are eligible for certain types of Minimum Essential Coverage, you may not be eligible for the premium tax credit

# Does this plan meet the Minimum Value Standards? Yes

If your plan doesn't meet the Minimum Value Standards, you may be eligible for a premium tax credit to help you pay for a plan through the Marketplace.

# Language Access Services:

Para obtener asistencia en Español, llame al 800-922-2232.

Kung kailangan ninyo ang tulong sa Tagalog tumawag sa 800-922-2232.

如果需要中文的帮助, 请拨打这个号码 800-922-2232.

Dinek'ehgo shika at'ohwol ninisingo, kwiijigo holne' 800-922-2232.

-To see examples of how this <u>plan</u> might cover costs for a sample medical situation, see the next section.



This is not a cost estimator. Treatments shown are just examples of how this plan might cover medical care. Your actual costs will be different depending on the actual care you receive, the prices your providers charge, and many other factors. Focus on the cost sharing amounts (deductibles, copays and coinsurance) and excluded services under the plan. Use this information to compare the portion of costs you might pay under different health plans. Please note these coverage examples are based on self-only coverage.

Managing Joe's type 2 Diabetes       Mia's Simple Fracture         (a year of routine in-network care of a well-controlled condition)       (in-network emergency room visit and follow up care)	The plan's overall deductible \$350 The plan's overall deductible specialist copayment \$15 Specialist copayment \$15 Specialist copayment \$15 Specialist (facility) \$0 Speciality) \$15 Speciality \$15 Speci	This EXAMPLE event includes services like: Primary care physician office visits (including disease education)  Diagnostic tests (blood work)  Prescription drugs  Durable medical equipment (glucose meter)  This EXAMPLE event includes services like:  Emergency room care (including medical equipment equipment (including medical equipment equipment equipment)  Emergency room care (including medical equipment equipmen	Cost \$5,600 Total Example Cost \$2,800	Joe would pay:
		This EXAMPLE event include Primary care physician office disease education)  Diagnostic tests (blood work) Prescription drugs Durable medical equipment (6)	\$12,700 Total Example Cost	In this example, Joe would pay:
Peg is Having a Baby (9 months of in-network pre-natal care and a hospital delivery)	eductible \$350   11	This EXAMPLE event includes services like: Specialist office visits (prenatal care) Childbirth/Delivery Professional Services Childbirth/Delivery Facility Services Diagnostic tests (ultrasounds and blood work) Specialist visit (anesthesia)		ould pay:
Peg is H (9 months of in-net hospi	<ul> <li>The plan's overall deductible</li> <li>Specialist copayment</li> <li>Hospital (facility)</li> <li>Other</li> </ul>	This EXAMPLE event includes services like Specialist office visits (prenatal care) Childbirth/Delivery Professional Services Childbirth/Delivery Facility Services Diagnostic tests (ultrasounds and blood work) Specialist visit (anesthesia)	Total Example Cost	In this example, Peg would pay:

NOTE: These numbers assume the patient does not participate in the plan's Health Enhancement Program (HEP). If you participate in HEP, you may be able to reduce your cost. For more information about HEP, please visit https://carecompass.ct.gov/hep/

The <u>plan</u> would be responsible for the other costs of these EXAMPLE-covered services.

\$350 \$320 \$0

Cost Sharing

Deductibles

Cost Sharing

Copays

\$190

\$670

What isn't covered

Coinsurance

The total Mia would pay is

Limits or exclusions

\$310

What isn't covered

Coinsurance

\$0

Deductibles Copays

\$350

Cost Sharing

\$25

The total Joe would pay is

Limits or exclusions

\$60

What isn't covered

Coinsurance

Deductibles Copays The total Peg would pay is

Limits or exclusions

# **HEALTH ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM (HEP)**

# BY THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT, ADMINISTERED BY QUANTUM HEALTH.

HEP rewards you for completing your recommended preventive care by reducing your medical premiums and waiving your in-network deductible. By complying with the HEP requirements each year, you save \$100 per month on your medical plan premiums (\$1,200 per year) and earn a waiver of a \$350 in-network deductible for each enrolled family member (up to a maximum of \$1,400 per family). All HEP requirements below, including those taking effect in 2025, align with the latest U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendations.

2024 PREVENTIVE	Dependent Requirements		Employee	and Spouse Rec	quirements	
SCREENINGS	6-26 years	18-29 years	30-39 years	40-49 years	50-64 years	65+ years
Preventive Visit (Changing to every 2 years for all ages in 2025)		Every 3	3 years		Every 2 years	
Dental Cleaning	At least 1 per year		ļ	At least 1 per yea	ır	
Cholesterol Screening			Eve	ery 5 years (age 2	(0+)	
Breast Cancer Screening (for women) (Changing to every 2 years for women age 40+ in 2025)		N/A		1 mammogram between ages 45-49  As recommended by your doctor		
Cervical Cancer Screening (for women)				Pap only every 3 years or Pap/HPV combo every 5 years		N/A
Colorectal Cancer Screening		N.	/A	Cologua	copy every 10 yeard screening ever ual FIT/FOBT to	y 3 years,

The requirements are based on your age as of January 1 each year. As Quantum Health receives your claims, your preventive care will be marked complete in your online account.

# ADDITIONAL STEPS REQUIRED IF YOU HAVE A CHRONIC CONDITION

If you have one of the following chronic conditions, you must complete additional steps to stay in compliance with the program.

- Diabetes (type 1 or 2)
- Asthma or COPD
- Heart disease/heart failure

- Hyperlipidemia (high cholesterol)
- Hypertension (high blood pressure)

#### CONFIRM HEP COMPLIANCE AND LEARN MORE

- Go to carecompass.ct.gov, follow the steps to register or log in to Quantum Health, and then click on the My Health tab in your Quantum Health account
- Call your Quantum Health Care Coordinators at (833) 740-3258





carecompass.ct.gov

(833) 740-3258 (Monday-Friday, 8:30 a.m.-10 p.m. ET)





# Summary of Benefits Anthem Dental Essential Choice



Town of Branford Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield Dental Complete Network

# **WELCOME TO YOUR DENTAL PLAN!**

Regular dental checkups can help find early warning signs of certain health problems, which means you can get the care you need to get healthy. So, don't skimp on your dental care, good oral care can mean better overall health!

#### Powerful and easily accessible member tools.

- Ask a Hygienist: Dental members can simply email their dental questions to a team of licensed dental professionals who in turn will respond in about 24 hours.
- Dental Health Risk Assessment: We want our dental members to better understand their oral health and their risk factors for tooth decay, gum disease and oral cancer. This easy to use online tool can help them do this.
- Dental Care Cost Estimator: In order to help our dental member better understand the cost of their dental care, we offer access to a user-friendly, web-based tool that provides estimates on common dental procedures and treatments when using a network dentist.
- More Capabilities: With our latest mobile application, members can find
  a network dentist as well as view their claims. Our application is available
  for both Android and Apple phones.

#### Dentists in your plan network.

- You'll save money when you visit a dentist in your plan network because Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield (Anthem) and the dentist have agreed on pricing for covered services.
   Dentists who are not in your plan network have not agreed to pricing, and may bill you for the difference between what Anthem pays them and what the dentist usually charges.
- To find a dentist by name or location, go to anthem.com or call dental customer service at the number listed on the back of your ID card.

#### Ready to use your dental benefits?

- · Choose a dentist from the network
- Make an appointment
- Show the office staff your member ID card
- · Pay any deductible or copay that is part of your plan

#### Need to contact us?

See the back of your ID card for who to call, write or email us.

# Your dental benefits at a glance

The following benefit summary outlines how your dental plan works and provides you with a quick reference of your dental plan benefits. For complete coverage details, please refer to your policy.

	In-Network	Out-of-Network
Coverage Year	Calenda	ar Year
Annual Benefit Maximum		
Per insured person	\$1,000	\$1,000
<ul> <li>Diagnostic &amp; Preventive Services are applied to the Annual Maximum</li> </ul>		
Annual Maximum Carryover	No	No
Orthodontic Lifetime Benefit Maximum		
Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable
Annual Deductible		
Per insured person	\$25	\$25
Family maximum	3x single member	3x single member
- Turniy maximum	deductible	deductible
Deductible Waived for Diagnostic/Preventive Services	Yes	Yes
Out-of-Network Reimbursement:	80th per	centile

QuoteID: 04033714

Dental Services	In-Network Anthem Pays:	Out-of-Network Anthem Pays:	Waiting Period
iagnostic and Preventive Services	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Periodic oral exam	00 /0 Comparance	oo /o oomourance	no walang renou
o Limited to 2 per 12 months			
Teeth cleaning (prophylaxis)			
Limited to two per 12 months combined with periodontal maintenance			
Bitewing X-rays			
Limited to one set per 12 months			
Full-Mouth or Panoramic X-rays			
Limited to one per 60 months			
Fluoride application			
Limited to one per 12 months through age 18			
Sealant application			
<ul> <li>Limited to one per 60 months through age 18</li> </ul>			
Space maintainer insertion			
<ul> <li>Limited to one per tooth space per lifetime through age 18</li> </ul>			
Basic (Restorative) Services	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Consultation (second opinion); only with X-rays and no other services			
Limited to one per 12 months			
Amalgam (silver-colored) filling			
Limited to one per tooth surface per 24 months     Companie (tooth pales of) Elling.			
Composite (tooth-colored) filling			
Limited to one per tooth surface per 24 months     Destrict (health fillings paid as an ampliagm (silver colored filling))			
posterior (back) fillings paid as an amalgam (silver-colored filling)			
Brush Biopsy (cancer test)			
Limited to one per 12 months; all ages  Endedontics (Non Surgical)	000/ 0-1	000/ C-1	N - M-M-M D-d-d
Endodontics (Non-Surgical)	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Root Canal (permanent teeth only)			
Limited to one per tooth per lifetime; permanent teeth only	200/ 0 1	200/ 0 1	N W B
Endodontics (Surgical)	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Apicoectomy and apexification			
Limited to one per tooth per lifetime; permanent teeth only  Periodontics (Non Survice)	F00/ C-1	F00/ C-1	N - W-W - D - ' - I
Periodontics (Non-Surgical)	50% Coinsurance	50% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Periodontal maintenance			
Limited to four per 12 months combined with teeth cleanings			
Scaling and root planning; when the tooth pocket has a depth of four millimeters or greater			
Limited to one per quadrant per 24 months  Periodontico (Currical)	F00/ C-1	F00/ C-1	N - M - W D - 1 - 1
Periodontics (Surgical)	50% Coinsurance	50% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Periodontal surgery (osseous, gingivectomy, graft procedures)			
Limited to one per quadrant per 36 months			92.000 POWER AT 100 PM
Oral Surgery (Simple)	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Simple extraction			
Limited to one per tooth per lifetime			
Oral Surgery (Complex)	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Surgical extraction			
Limited to one per tooth per lifetime			
Major (Restorative) Services	50% Coinsurance	50% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Crowns, onlays, veneers			
o Limited to one per tooth/arch per 84 months			
Prosthodontics	50% Coinsurance	50% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Dentures and bridges			
<ul> <li>Limited to one per tooth/arch per 84 months</li> </ul>			
Implant placement			
o Not Covered			
Implant prosthodontics			
<ul> <li>Limited to one per tooth/arch per 84 months as a non-implant crown, bridge, and/or denture</li> </ul>			
Repairs/Adjustments	80% Coinsurance	80% Coinsurance	No Waiting Period
Crown, denture, bridge repairs			
Limited to one per 12 months not within 6 months of placement			
Denture and bridge adjustments:			
oringo adjaounomo.			

Dental Services (continued)	In-Network Anthem Pays:	Out-of-Network Anthem Pays:	Waiting Period
Orthodontic Services  Ontrovered	Not covered	Not covered	N/A
Temporomandibular Joint Disorder (TMJ)  • X-rays, splints, and surgical procedures including arthroscopy and orthotic devices  • Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered	N/A
Cosmetic Teeth Whitening  Not covered	Not Covered	Not Covered	N/A

NOTE: Cosmetic benefits, such as teeth bleaching, in an insurance policy may have income tax implications for both employer groups and plan members. For example, the dollar value of the cosmetic benefit may be considered part of an individual's taxable income. For more information concerning the tax ramifications of cosmetic insurance benefits, please consult a legal or tax advisor.

Additional Services and Programs	In-Network Anthem Pays:	Out-of-Network Anthem Pays:	Waiting Period
Anthem Whole Health Connection® - Dental  • For members with certain health conditions, additional dental benefits are available without a deductible, office visit copay, nor waiting periods. Eliqible services are paid at 100% and won't	Included	Included	No waiting period
reduce your coverage year annual maximum (if applicable).			SE-200
Accidental Dental Injury Benefit			
<ul> <li>Provides members 100% coverage for accidental injuries to teeth up to the coverage year annual maximum (if applicable). No deductibles, office visit copay, member coinsurance, nor waiting periods apply.</li> </ul>	Included	Included	No waiting period
Extension of Benefits			
<ul> <li>Following termination of coverage, members are provided up to 60 days to complete treatment started prior to their termination of coverage under the plan and eligible services will be covered.</li> </ul>	Included	Included	No waiting period
International Emergency Dental Program			
<ul> <li>Provides emergency dental benefits while working or traveling abroad from licensed, English- speaking dentists. Eligible covered services will be paid 100% with no deductibles, office visit copay, member coinsurance, nor waiting periods and won't reduce the member coverage year annual maximum (if applicable).</li> </ul>	Included	Included	No waiting period
Kids Plus			
<ul> <li>For members through age 12 covered services excluding orthodontia services, receive the corresponding coinsurance up to the coverage year annual maximum (if applicable). No deductibles, office visit copay, nor waiting periods apply. All other benefit limitations and exclusions apply. For additional coverage details, please refer to your policy.</li> </ul>	Not Included	Not Included	Not applicable

#### **Additional Limitations & Exclusions**

Below is a partial listing of non-covered services under your dental plan. Please see your policy for a full list.

Services provided before or after the term of this coverage - Services received before your effective date or after your coverage ends, unless otherwise specified in the dental plan certificate

Orthodontics (unless included as part of your dental plan benefits) including orthodontic braces, appliances and all related services

Cosmetic dentistry (unless included as part of you dental plan benefits) provided by dentists solely for the purpose of improving the appearance of the tooth when tooth structure and function are satisfactory and no pathologic conditions (cavities) exist

Drugs and medications including intravenous conscious sedation, IV sedation and general anesthesia when performed with nonsurgical dental care

Analgesia, analgesic agents, and anxiolysis nitrous oxide, therapeutic drug injections, medicines or drugs for nonsurgical or surgical dental care except that intravenous conscious sedation is eligible as a separate benefit when performed in conjunction with complex surgical services.

Waiting periods for endodontic, periodontic and oral surgery services may differ from other Basic Services or Major Services under the same dental plan. There

is a 24 month waiting period for replacement of congenitally missing teeth or teeth extracted prior to coverage under this plan.

This is not a contract; it is a partial listing of benefits and services. All covered services are subject to the conditions, limitations, exclusions, terms and provisions of your policy. In the event of a discrepancy between the information in this summary and the policy, your policy will prevail.

# **EXHIBIT D**

# Memorandum of Agreement

The Town of Branford (the "Town") and Local 459 of the United Public Service

Employees Union/COPS Division (the "Union") hereby agree to the following light duty

policy:

#### Purpose

It is the purpose of this policy to provide temporary light duty assignments, when available, to accommodate officers who temporarily cannot perform the full range of police duties and responsibilities. Use of temporary light duty can provide employees with an opportunity to remain productive while convalescing and when physically or mentally unfit for their regular assignments, without risking their health and safety or the safety of others. Temporary light duty applies only to an officer whose disability or condition is temporary and is not a matter of right. Further, there is no guarantee that an officer will be assigned to light duty at any given time. Failure to assign an officer to light duty shall not be subject to the grievance procedure contained in the parties' collective bargaining agreement unless arbitrary and capricious.

# **Eligibility**

An officer convalescing from an injury or illness who is absent from work as a result of a non-work related injury may apply for temporary light duty assignment. Applications will be made available to the Union. The Chief may order an officer who is absent on a work-related compensable leave to assume a temporary light duty assignment. In all cases, eligibility and assignment to light duty shall be subject to and supported by medical documentation. Further, officers will be required to submit medical documentation when there is any change in their light duty restrictions.

# Light Duty Assignment

Temporary light duty assignments may be made in any of the Police Department's divisions that employ sworn police officers in accordance with an officer's medical restrictions. If a uniformed officer is located in the department, officers restricted to light duty may be assigned to work the desk by the Chief or his designee.

Light duty assignments will be made on a first-come first-served basis. Therefore, if an officer is assigned to light duty and thereafter another officer is injured, the second officer may not bump the first officer out of his/her light duty assignment.

Temporary light duty positions are based upon the operational needs of the department. No specific position in the Police Department will be established or dedicated for use as a temporary light duty assignment nor shall any existing position be designated or





į

otherwise dedicated exclusively for temporary light duty. Officers granted temporary light duty may be eligible for overtime in order to complete work related to his/her light duty assignment, if approved by the Chief or his designee.

Light duty assignments may be made after an officer has been out of work for the period of a week and medical documentation is provided addressing the officer's work restrictions; however, an officer who is released for light duty may voluntarily return to work sooner.

Light duty assignments will generally occur during the day shift; however, the Chief or his designee may modify an officer's hours of work/work schedule due to a hardship and/or the operational needs of the department. Further, nothing contained herein shall prevent an officer from being assigned to work a non-conforming schedule.

Light duty assignments are strictly temporary and shall not exceed two (2) months' duration unless approved by the Chief of Police or his designee. An initial or extended light duty assignment may be discontinued at any time depending upon a change in the officer's medical condition and/or the operational needs of the Police Department, as determined by the Chief.

Employees assigned to temporary light duty are expected to wear professional attire when working in the office in accordance with POST standards. Police officers while on temporary light duty may not wear the department uniform, carry the department-issued firearm, drive a marked patrol vehicle, ride with another police officer in a marked vehicle when the officer is on patrol or otherwise employ police powers.

The Chief may, in his sole discretion, provide transportation to an employee who is assigned to temporary light duty as the result of a work-related injury.

The Chief is the decision-maker on all aspects for temporary light duty assignment and his decision is based on the availability of an appropriate assignment, the physical limitations of the officer as documented by medical opinion and the officer's knowledge, skills and ability.

Town of Branford

By falm He corlo

Date 9/11/2008

Local 459 UPSEU/COPS

Date 9-11-2008

# **EXHIBIT E**

# Memorandum of Agreement

The Town of Branford (the "Town") and Local 459 of the United Public Service Employees Union/COPS Division (the "Union") hereby agree to the following "Maternity Assignment" policy:

# Maternity Assignment Policy

#### POLICY:

This policy establishes procedures for accommodating prognant officer (when accommodations are needed) including the provision of temporary, alternative duty assignments (known as "Maternity Assignments") when officers are unable to safely perform all essential job functions.

#### **PURPOSE:**

The goal of this policy is to provide accommodations that will enable a pregnant officer to continue working in a full-time capacity for as long as reasonably possible.

# REQUIRED ACTION:

# **Notification Procedures**

- 1.1. No officer shall be required to disclose a pregnancy, unless or until the officer has reason to believe she cannot continue to safely perform in her current duty assignment.
- 1.2. A pregnant officer's duty assignment shall not be altered at the time a pregnancy is disclosed, unless: (1) the officer requests a "Maternity Assignment" in writing and presents a letter from her treating physician indicating that the officer should not be on regular duty and outlining any restrictions on the officer's ability to perform the essential functions of her current assignment; or (2) the officer's condition may pose a risk to public safety. In situations where there are concerns about public safety, the officer and/or the officer's supervisor should promptly

contact the Chief who will in turn, with the assistance of Human Resources, evaluate the situation and recommend an appropriate course of action.

1.3. As soon as a pregnancy is disclosed, and the officer requests a "Maternity Assignment, the officer shall promptly schedule a meeting with the Chief and Human Resources for the purpose of discussing the availability of prognancy-related accommodations.

# Maternity Assignment

- 2.1 Employees assigned to a Maternity Assignment are expected to wear professional attire when working in accordance with POSTC standards. While on a "Maternity Assignment," officers may not wear the department uniform, carry the department-issued firearm, drive a marked patrol vehicle, ride with another police officer in a marked vehicle when the officer is on patrol or otherwise employ police powers.
- 2.2 Employees assigned to a "Maternity Assignment" may be eligible for overtime in order to complete work related to her Maternity Assignment, if approved by the Chief
- 2.3 During a "Maternity Assignment, assigned officers are not eligible for extra duty assignments.
- 2.4. Maternity duty may consist of, but is not limited to, the following:
- \*Non-hazardous assignments
- \*Writing police reports
- \*Operating a police radio
- \*Interviewing persons and applicant fingerprinting
- \*Clerical functions.
- \*POSTC class-room training.

#### Restrictions:

- 3.1 Maternity Assignments will not include, but is not limited to:
- \*Work that involves the likelihood of encountering toxic chemicals:
- \*Defensive tactics or defensive tactics training:
- \*Firearms Training:
- \*Patrol duties:
- \*Extensive exposure to automobile exhaust fumes such as may be experienced with intensive traffic control:
- \*Prisoner contact.

# **Evaluation:**

( )

- 4.1. During the pregnancy, it may become necessary for the BPD to evaluate the officer's continuing ability to safely and effectively perform the essential functions of her "Maternity Assignment", with or without a reasonable accommodation. During the pregnancy, the Chief may periodically require the officer to provide a letter from her treating physician outlining any and all restrictions on the officer's ability to perform in her "Maternity Assignment".
- 4.2 BPD will consider any specific restrictions identified by the officer's physician.
- 4.3 If an officer becomes unable to perform the functions of her maternity assignment, the officer will be permitted to take leave in accordance with the BPD's leave policies and state/federal law.
- 4.4 Temporary Assignments of eligible pregnant officers due to maternity assignment will be made consistent with the operational needs of the BPD. Management has the right assign shifts, days off and work assignment while the officer is on Maternity Assignment. Officers who request maternity assignment will be removed from the shift bidding process. Eligibility for a "Maternity Assignment" concludes upon child birth. Reintegration into the full time bid assignment shall be assigned in accordance with the collective bargaining agreement, consistent with requirements to bid if an officer is on injury leave or light duty.

# Officer's Responsibility.

5.1 Before an officer returns to full duty, she shall provide a letter from her treating physician indicating that she can perform the essential functions of a full duty assignment. Further, the officer shall schedule a meeting with the training officer before returning to a full duty assignment to ensure POSTC certification is up to date.

Town of Branford

Local 459 UPSEU/COPS

CHIEF

By Or Lax

Date Feb 2, 2018

Dato\_ Feb, 2 2018